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FOR the hAlF yeAR ended 31 deCeMbeR 2010

mirvac	group	comprises	mirvac	limited	(ABn	92	003	280	699)	and	its	controlled	entities	
(including	mirvac	property	trust	(Arsn	086	780	645)	and	its	controlled	entities).

this	interim	report	does	not	include	all	the	notes	of	the	type	normally	included	in	an	
annual	financial	report.	Accordingly,	this	report	is	to	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	
annual	report	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2010	and	any	public	announcements	made	
by	mirvac	group	during	the	interim	reporting	period	in	accordance	with	the	continuous	
disclosure	requirements	of	the	corporations	Act	2001.

cover	imAge:	tower	8,	yArrA’s	edge,	docklAnds,	vic
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the	directors	of	mirvac	limited	present	their	report,	together	with	the	consolidated	report	of	mirvac	group	
(“mirvac”	or	“group”),	for	the	half	year	ended	31	december	2010.	mirvac	comprises	mirvac	limited	(“parent	entity”)	
and	its	controlled	entities,	which	includes	mirvac	property	trust	(“mpt”	or	“trust”)	and	its	controlled	entities.

Directors
the	following	persons	were	directors	of	mirvac	limited	during	the	half	year	and	up	to	the	date	of	this	report:

James	mackenzie
nicholas	collishaw
peter	hawkins
James	millar
penny	morris
John	mulcahy
elana	rubin	(appointed	as	a	director	on	11	november	2010).

review	of	operations	and	activities
the	statutory	loss	after	tax	attributable	to	the	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	for	the	half	year	ended	
31	december	2010	was	$12.7m	(december	2009:	profit	$47.2m).	included	in	the	statutory	loss	was	a	provision	
for	loss	on	inventories	totalling	$215.0m	(december	2009:	$nil).	the	operating	profit	(profit	before	specific	
non-cash	items	and	significant	items)	was	$200.1m	(december	2009:	$129.4m).

operating	profit	is	a	financial	measure	which	is	not	prescribed	by	Australian	Accounting	standards	(“AAs”)	
and	represents	the	profit	under	AAs	adjusted	for	specific	non-cash	items	and	significant	items.	the	following	
table	summarises	key	reconciling	items	between	statutory	(loss)/profit	after	tax	attributable	to	the	stapled	
securityholders	of	mirvac	and	operating	profit:

	 31	December	 31	december	
	 2010	 2009
	 $m	 $m

(loss)/profit	for	the	half	year	attributable	to	the	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 (12.7)	 47.2

specific	non-cash	items
net	(gain)/loss	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties	and	owner-occupied	
hotel	management	lots	and	freehold	hotels	 (76.1)	 116.0
net	loss	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties	under	construction	(“ipuc”)	 48.1	 86.3
net	gain	on	fair	value	of	derivative	financial	instruments	and	
associated	foreign	exchange	movements	 (10.4)	 (16.7)
security	based	payment	expense	 2.7	 2.5
depreciation	of	owner-occupied	investment	properties,	hotels	and	
hotel	management	lots	(including	hotel	property,	plant	and	equipment)	 4.0	 3.4
straight-lining	of	lease	revenue	 (7.6)	 (0.3)
Amortisation	of	lease	incentives	 5.3	 4.8
net	(gain)/loss	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties,	derivatives	and	
other	specific	non-cash	items	included	in	share	of	net	profit	of	associates	and	joint	ventures	 (1.0)	 11.2

significant	items
provision	for	loss	on	inventories	 215.0	 —
Business	combination	transaction	costs	 31.8	 22.0
net	gain	on	sale	of	non-aligned	assets	 —	 (0.9)
discount	on	business	combination	 —	 (119.8)
net	gain	on	remeasurement	of	equity	interest	 —	 (30.9)

tax	effect
tax	effect	of	specific	non-cash	items	and	significant	items	adjustments	 1.0	 4.6

operating	profit	(profit	before	specific	non-cash	items	and	significant	items)	 200.1	 129.4

dIReCtORs’ RePORt
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operational	highlights	anD	Divisional	strategY

investment	Division
the	investment	division	had	a	total	portfolio	value	of	
$5,805.1m	with	investments	in	70	assets,	covering	the	
office,	retail,	industrial	and	hotel	sectors,	as	well	as	
investments	in	other	funds	managed	by	mirvac.

for	the	six	months	ended	31	december	2010,	the	
investment	division’s	statutory	net	profit	before	tax	was	
$234.7m	and	operating	profit	before	tax	was	$199.0m.

key	highlights	for	the	trust	for	the	six	months	ended	
31	december	2010	included:

—	successful	acquisition	and	transition	of	wop	into	the	
trust,	in	line	with	the	group’s	strategy	of	securing	
Australian	recurring	rental	income;	and

—	disposal	of	eight	non-aligned	assets	realising	$149.9m	
(before	costs),	comprising:

—	James	ruse	Business	park,	northmead	nsw	
for	$28.2m	in	July	2010;

—	253	wellington	road,	mulgrave	vic	for	$4.7m	
in	July	2010;

—	hawdon	industry	park,	dandenong	vic	for	$13.3m	
in	August	2010;

—	morayfield	supacentre,	morayfield	qld	for	$38.5m	
in	August	2010;

—	orion	hardware	surplus	land,	springfield	qld	for	
$4.5m	in	August	2010;

—	Blacktown	megacentre,	Blacktown	nsw	for	$26.2m	
in	december	2010;

—	network,	old	wallgrove	road,	eastern	creek	nsw	
for	$6.0m	in	december	2010;	and

—	lake	haven	megacentre,	lake	haven	nsw	
for	$28.5m	which	settled	post	31	december	2010	
(february	2011).

the	trust	maintained	its	strong	portfolio	metrics	with	a	
high	portfolio	occupancy	of	98.2	per	cent	(by	area)	and	
a	weighted	average	lease	expiry	of	6.2	years	(by	area).	
the	trust’s	earnings	continue	to	be	secure	with	94.8	
per	cent	of	financial	year	(“fy”)11	rent	reviews	being	
fixed	or	linked	to	the	consumer	price	index	(“cpi”),	and	
83.9	per	cent	of	revenue	derived	from	multinational,	
national,	Australian	securities	exchange	(“AsX”)	listed	
and	government	tenants.

outlook
the	investment	division	remains	focused	on	active	
asset	management	and	further	enhancing	the	quality	
of	the	portfolio.	the	trust	will	focus	on	its	$1,408.3m	
development	pipeline	which	will	be	delivered	by	the	
group’s	in-house	development	division,	providing	quality	
assets	at	enhanced	returns.

Financial	anD	operational	highlights
key	financial	highlights	for	the	six	months	ended	
31	december	2010	included:

—	operating	profit	of	$200.1m	1,	representing	5.9	cents	
per	security;

—	net	tangible	assets	per	security	of	$1.60	2;
—	operating	cash	flow	of	$62.6m;
—	 total	assets	of	$8,817.0m;
—	net	assets	of	$5,520.5m;	and
—	distribution	of	$136.6m,	representing	4.0	cents	

per	security.

key	operational	highlights	for	the	six	months	ended	
31	december	2010	included:

—	finalised	the	acquisition	of	westpac	office	portfolio	
(“wop”),	adding	$1,152.7m	3	of	investment	grade	assets;

—	continued	to	improve	the	quality	of	the	mpt	portfolio	
with	the	sale	of	eight	assets,	realising	$149.9m	
(before	costs),	representing	a	1.3	per	cent	premium	
to	carrying	value;

—	exchanged	contracts	for	$841.0m	4	in	new	residential	
projects	and	achieved	721	residential	lot	settlements;

—	continued	the	development	of	large-scale,	
masterplanned,	generational	residential	projects	in	
core	markets	and	restocked	the	residential	pipeline	via	
the	acquisition	of	a	further	2,749	lots;

—	commenced	commercial	development	projects	
including	the	demolition	of	8	chifley	square,	sydney	
nsw	to	develop	into	a	premium	office	tower;	and

—	added	two	hotels	within	hotel	management,	bringing	
the	total	number	of	hotel	rooms	across	the	portfolio	
to	5,908.

capital	management
during	the	six	months	to	31	december	2010,	the	group	
issued	and	priced	a	new	$200.0m	six	year	fixed	medium	
term	note	(“mtn”)	into	the	domestic	bond	market,	at	a	
margin	of	250	basis	points	per	annum.

the	group’s	balance	sheet	gearing	at	31	december	2010	
was	27.3	per	cent	5	and	the	group	maintained	its	BBB/A-2	
credit	rating	from	standard	&	poor’s.

post	31	december	2010,	the	group	announced	it	had	
successfully	refinanced	its	syndicated	bank	facilities	in	
line	with	its	strategy.	the	transaction	involved	refinancing	
existing	tranches	maturing	in	June	2011	and	January	2012	
to	a	new	$1,852.5m	facility.	the	new	facility	is	now	made	
up	of	one	to	five	year	maturities	and	has	extended	the	
group’s	weighted	average	debt	maturity	to	4.2	years	6.	
the	average	cost	of	the	group’s	debt	has	increased	by	
approximately	25	basis	points	per	annum	and	now	stands	
at	7.3	per	cent	per	annum	6,7,	in	line	with	expectations.

outlook
mirvac	remains	focused	on	managing	its	strong	capital	
position	to	ensure	it	can	continue	to	meet	its	strategic	
objectives	without	increasing	its	overall	risk	profile.

dIReCtORs’ RePORt

1)	 excludes	specific	non-cash	items,	significant	items	and	related	taxation.
2)	ntA	per	stapled	security	based	on	ordinary	securities	excluding	employee	incentive	scheme	securities.
3)	includes	the	acquisition	of	54-60	talavera	road,	north	ryde,	nsw.
4)	total	exchanged	contracts,	adjusted	for	mirvac’s	share	of	Joint	venture	interests	and	mirvac	managed	funds.
5)	net	debt	after	cross	currency	interest	rate	swaps	excluding	leases	/	(total	tangible	assets	—	cash).	post	19	January	2011	bank	syndicated	debt	refinance.
6)	excludes	wop	associated	commercial	mortgage-Backed	securities	(“cmBs”)	which	is	fully	collateralised.
7)	includes	margin	and	line	fees.	post	19	January	2011	bank	syndicated	debt	refinance.
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following	the	ongoing	rationalisation	of	non-aligned	
and	unscaleable	funds,	mim	remained	focused	on	its	
core	area	of	operation,	being	investment	partnerships	
with	wholesale	clients.	At	31	december	2010,	mirvac	
managed	three	wholesale	funds,	being	mirvac	wholesale	
hotel	fund,	mirvac	wholesale	residential	development	
partnership	and	travelodge	group.

outlook
the	focus	for	mim	is	to	continue	to	support	and	
source	capital	for	the	group’s	two	core	divisions	
—	investment	and	development	—	through	the	
establishment	of	investment	partnerships	with	
wholesale	institutional	investors.

Development	Division
the	group’s	development	division	conducts	residential	
and	commercial	development	across	new	south	wales,	
victoria,	queensland	and	western	Australia.

for	the	six	months	ended	31	december	2010,	the	
division’s	statutory	net	loss	before	tax	was	$199.4m	and	
operating	profit	before	tax	was	$15.8m.	the	division’s	
statutory	result	was	impacted	by	the	group’s	decision	
to	expand	and	accelerate	its	englobo	sales	program,	
which	resulted	in	a	$215.0m	provision.	As	announced	
by	the	group	on	25	January	2011,	select	regional	
markets	have	not	recovered	in	line	with	metropolitan	
markets.	these	markets	have	experienced	slower	than	
expected	sales	over	the	traditionally	strong	spring	and	
summer	periods,	and	continue	to	be	characterised	
by	oversupply	and	heavy	discounting.	As	part	of	the	
group’s	provision	announcement,	four	residential	
projects	in	underperforming	markets	have	been	included	
in	the	division’s	englobo	disposal	program	(magenta	
shores,	nsw;	the	royal,	newcastle,	nsw;	dianella,	wA;	
and	Bridgewater,	wA).

Residential
mirvac’s	residential	product	offering	includes	house	and	
land	packages,	masterplanned	communities,	small	lot	
homes	and	apartments.

in	the	group’s	core	metropolitan	markets,	the	division	
continued	to	deliver	quality	residential	product,	with	key	
projects	like	rhodes	waterside	in	sydney	and	yarra’s	
edge	and	harcrest	in	melbourne	achieving	strong	
results	to	31	december	2010.	for	the	six	months	to	
31	december	2010,	the	division	settled	721	residential	
lots	1.	state	based	settlements	for	the	six	months	ended	
31	december	2010	were	as	follows:

state	 lots

nsw	 421
vic	 88
qld	 92
wA	 120

total	 721	1

hotel	management
mirvac’s	hotel	management	business	manages	47	hotels	
throughout	Australia	(44)	and	new	Zealand	(three)	
under	a	suite	of	brands	comprising	sea	temple	(five	star	
resorts);	quay	grand	(five	star	deluxe	apartment	hotels);	
quay	west	(five	star	all-suite	hotels	and	resorts);	sebel	
(four	and	a	half	star	hotels	and	resorts);	and	citigate	
(four	star	hotels).

for	the	six	months	ended	31	december	2010,	the	business	
unit	achieved	a	statutory	net	profit	of	$4.8m	and	an	
operating	profit	before	tax	of	$5.9m	before	tax.

the	reporting	period	was	characterised	by	a	recovery	in	
the	hotel	operating	environment	throughout	Australia,	
supported	by	uplift	in	demand	from	the	corporate	and	
conferencing	market	segments	together	with	minimal	
new	supply	in	all	major	hotel	markets	except	melbourne.	
however,	regional	markets	including	the	major	resort	
destinations	have	not	enjoyed	a	similar	uplift	in	demand,	
as	domestic	travellers	are	presently	favouring	overseas	
destinations.	

portfolio	occupancy	for	the	six	months	was	77.3	per	
cent,	an	increase	of	2.2	percentage	points	on	the	same	
period	last	year.	similarly,	the	portfolio	average	room	
rate	for	the	six	months	was	$176	per	room,	an	increase	
of	4.8	per	cent	on	the	same	period	last	year.	revenue	
per	available	room	was	$136	per	room,	an	increase	of	
7.9	per	cent	on	the	same	period	last	year.

outlook
the	outlook	for	the	remainder	of	the	financial	year	for	
hotel	management	remains	positive,	relative	to	the	same	
period	last	year	for	that	part	of	the	portfolio	located	in	
the	key	gateway	cities	of	Brisbane,	sydney,	melbourne,	
Adelaide	and	perth,	which	have	all	experienced	growth	
in	revenue	per	available	room	(average	room	rate	times	
room	occupancy	expressed	as	a	dollar	figure)	which	is	
the	key	performance	indicator	for	hotel	performance.	
the	robust	operating	environment	for	the	majority	of	
the	portfolio	will	assist	mirvac’s	strategy	of	expanding	
its	managed	hotel	portfolio	and	reinforcing	the	market	
presence	of	its	suite	of	hotel	brands.

the	group	will	continue	to	review	the	impact	of	the	
queensland	floods	and	cyclone	yasi	on	its	
queensland	hotels.

investment	management
mirvac’s	investment	management	(“mim”)	business	
unit	provides	capital	for	the	group’s	two	core	divisions	
—	investment	and	development	—	through	the	
establishment	of	investment	partnerships	with	major	
financial	institutions	and	institutional	investors.

for	the	six	months	ended	31	december	2010,	mim	
recorded	a	statutory	net	profit	before	tax	of	$1.7m	and	
an	operating	profit	before	tax	of	$2.4m.

dIReCtORs’ RePORt

1)	 including	mirvac	share	of	joint	venture	interests	and	mirvac	managed	funds.
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growth	in	the	Australian	labour	market	continues	
to	signal	an	improving	demand	outlook	for	the	
national	office	market	with	the	unemployment	rate	
0.4	per	cent	lower	than	that	for	January	2010	at	
5.1	per	cent.	in	december	2010,	national	vacancy	rates	
fell	to	approximately	7.0	per	cent,	and	over	the	next	
12	months	are	expected	to	continue	to	trend	lower,	
reflecting	low	levels	of	construction	and	expectations	
of	improving	demand.

the	group	remains	cautious	in	its	outlook	for	the	retail	
sector,	with	Australian	consumer	confidence	softening	
following	interest	rate	increases	and	a	continued	
downtrend	in	annual	retail	turnover	growth	from	a	high	
of	4.0	per	cent	in	July	2010.	nationally,	the	average	
vacancy	rate	is	expected	to	remain	unchanged	over	the	
next	six	months.

conditions	in	the	Australian	industrial	market	have	
weakened	recently	and	are	expected	to	begin	a	gradual	
recovery	going	forward.	in	the	major	markets,	conditions	
are	best	in	victoria	where	a	mild	upswing	is	underway,	
whilst	new	south	wales	and	queensland	remain	the	
weaker	states.	national	industrial	vacancy	rates	are	
expected	to	continue	to	tighten	over	the	next	12	months.

Australian	residential	markets	remain	vulnerable	to	
weaker	construction	momentum	becoming	entrenched	
in	the	medium	term,	and	the	prospect	of	higher	interest	
rates	and	their	subsequent	impact	upon	affordability	will	
continue	to	impact	investor	sentiment.

mirvac	will	continue	to	focus	on	its	core	strengths	
of	managing	Australian	investment	grade	assets	
and	developing	large-scale,	pre-eminent	residential	
developments	in	core	locations	across	Australia.

mirvac	experienced	limited	impact	to	its	residential	
projects	and	investment	assets	across	queensland	
as	a	result	of	the	recent	flood	crisis	and	cyclone	yasi.	
the	group	will	continue	to	monitor	project	impacts.

auditor’s	independence	declaration
A	copy	of	the	auditor’s	independence	
declaration	required	under	section	307c	of	the	
corporations	Act	2001	is	set	out	on	page	05.

rounding	of	amounts
mirvac	is	of	the	kind	referred	to	in	class	order	98/0100	
issued	by	the	Australian	securities	and	investments	
commission,	relating	to	the	“rounding	off”	of	amounts	in	the	
financial	statements.	Amounts	in	the	financial	statements	
have	been	rounded	off	to	the	nearest	tenth	of	a	million	(“m”)	
dollars	in	accordance	with	that	class	order.

this	statement	is	made	in	accordance	with	a	resolution	
of	the	directors.

nicholas	collishaw
director

sydney	
22	february	2011

state	based	settlements	by	product	for	the	six	months	
ended	31	december	2010	were	as	follows:

	 house/land	 Apartments	 total
state	 %	 %	 %

nsw	 60.9	 48.3	 58.4
vic	 15.2	 —	 12.2
qld	 12.5	 14.0	 12.8
wA	 11.4	 37.8	 16.6

total	 	 	 100.0

the	division	secured	future	income	with	$841.0m	1	of	
exchanged	contracts,	with	key	projects	forecast	to	be	
delivered	for	2h11	being:

project	 type	 lots

parkbridge,	middleton	grange	nsw	 house	 112
laureate,	melbourne	vic	 house	 32
waverley	park,	mulgrave	vic	 house	 35
waterfront,	newstead	qld	 Apartments	 42

Commercial
mirvac’s	commercial	development	pipeline	covers	the	
office,	retail,	industrial	and	hotel	sectors.	completed	
projects	may	be	incorporated	into	mpt’s	property	
portfolio	or	sold	to	third	parties.	mirvac	is	in	various	
stages	of	commencing	10	strategic	development	projects	
with	a	$1,408.3m	commercial	development	pipeline.

during	the	six	months	ended	31	december	2010,	
the	division	significantly	advanced	work	on	hoxton	
distribution	park,	a	new	industrial	facility	in	sydney’s	
south	west	corridor.	hoxton	distribution	park	is	100	
per	cent	pre-let	to	woolworths	limited	and	will	cover	
approximately	140,000	square	metres	of	industrial	space	
that	will	house	two	major	distribution	centres	for	Big	w	
and	dick	smith	for	20	and	25	year	leases	respectively.	
construction	is	progressing	well	with	the	dick	smith	
facility	on	track	for	completion	in	the	first	half	of	fy12	
and	the	Big	w	facility	for	the	second	half	of	fy12.

demolition	work	also	commenced	on	8	chifley	square	in	
the	financial	core	of	sydney’s	central	business	district.	
8	chifley	square	will	comprise	approximately	19,000	
square	metres	of	net	lettable	area	across	21	office	levels.	
completion	is	expected	towards	the	end	of	fy13.

outlook
the	development	division	will	continue	with	its	strategy	
to	expedite	a	return	to	normalised	financial	performance,	
and	as	such	the	englobo	disposal	program	has	been	
expanded	to	include	four	residential	projects	and	one	
commercial	project.	the	division	remains	focused	on	
developing	large-scale,	masterplanned,	generational	
projects	in	core	markets.

marKet	anD	group	outlooK
mirvac	believes	the	outlook	for	the	Australian	economy	
remains	stable	for	the	remainder	of	the	financial	year	to	
30	June	2011.

dIReCtORs’ RePORt

1)	 total	exchanged	contracts,	adjusted	for	mirvac’s	share	of	Joint	venture	interest	and	mirvac	managed	funds.
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auDitor’s	inDepenDence	Declaration

As	lead	auditor	for	the	review	of	mirvac	limited	for	the	half	year	ended	31	december	2010,	i	declare	that	to	the	best	
of	my	knowledge	and	belief,	there	have	been:

a)	 no	contraventions	of	the	auditor	independence	requirements	of	the	corporations	Act	2001	in	relation	to	the	review;	and

b)	 no	contraventions	of	any	applicable	code	of	professional	conduct	in	relation	to	the	review.

this	declaration	is	in	respect	of	mirvac	limited	and	the	entities	it	controlled	during	the	period.

matthew	lunn

partner	 sydney	
pricewaterhousecoopers	 22	february	2011

AUdItOR’s IndePendenCe deClARAtIOn

liability	limited	by	a	scheme	approved	under	professional	standards	legislation
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dX	77	sydney	
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telephone	+61	2	8266	0000	
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	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 note	 $m	 $m

revenue	from	continuing	operations
investment	properties	rental	revenue	 	 267.1	 181.0
hotel	operating	revenue	 	 83.1	 76.2
investment	management	fee	revenue	 	 9.8	 17.2
development	and	construction	revenue	 	 454.9	 381.9
development	management	fee	revenue	 	 10.0	 16.8
interest	revenue	 	 24.3	 24.0
dividend	and	distribution	revenue	 	 0.3	 0.3
other	revenue	 	 7.7	 6.1

total	revenue	from	continuing	operations	 	 857.2	 703.5

other	income
share	of	net	profit	of	associates	and	joint	ventures	
accounted	for	using	the	equity	method	 7	 15.5	 7.2
net	gain	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties	and	
owner-occupied	hotel	management	lots	and	freehold	hotels	 8	 76.1	 —
gain	on	financial	instruments	 	 34.2	 —
foreign	exchange	gain	 	 73.6	 44.1
net	gain	on	sale	of	investments	 	 1.5	 1.8
net	gain	on	sale	of	investment	properties	 	 —	 0.3
discount	on	business	combination	 	 —	 119.8
net	gain	on	remeasurement	of	equity	interest	 	 —	 30.9

total	other	income	 	 200.9	 204.1

total	revenue	from	continuing	operations	and	other	income	 	 1,058.1	 907.6

net	loss	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties	and	
owner-occupied	hotel	management	lots	and	freehold	hotels	 8	 —	 (116.0)
net	loss	on	fair	value	of	ipuc	 8	 (48.1)	 (86.3)
net	loss	on	sale	of	investment	properties	 	 (0.7)	 —
net	loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 (0.7)	 (0.6)
investment	properties	expenses	 	 (58.1)	 (45.9)
hotel	operating	expenses	 	 (25.6)	 (24.5)
cost	of	property	development	and	construction	 	 (402.1)	 (357.7)
employee	benefits	expenses	 	 (79.2)	 (90.1)
depreciation	and	amortisation	expenses	 	 (15.7)	 (14.9)
impairment	of	loans	 	 (0.6)	 (0.5)
finance	costs	 5	 (57.2)	 (26.2)
loss	on	financial	instruments	 	 (97.4)	 (27.3)
selling	and	marketing	expenses	 	 (16.1)	 (11.1)
provision	for	loss	on	inventories	 	 (215.0)	 —
Business	combination	transaction	costs	 17	 (31.8)	 (22.0)
other	expenses	 	 (26.6)	 (34.8)

(loss)/profit	before	income	tax	 	 (16.8)	 49.7
income	tax	benefit/(expense)	 	 4.4	 (0.7)

(loss)/profit	for	the	half	year	 	 (12.4)	 49.0

stAteMent OF COMPRehensIVe InCOMe
FOR the hAlF yeAR ended 31 deCeMbeR 2010
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	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 note	 $m	 $m

(loss)/profit	for	the	half	year	 	 (12.4)	 49.0

other	comprehensive	income	for	the	half	year
increment/(decrement)	on	revaluation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	net	of	tax	 	 9.5	 (8.5)
exchange	differences	on	translation	of	foreign	operations	 	 (2.2)	 2.4

other	comprehensive	income,	net	of	tax	 	 7.3	 (6.1)

total	comprehensive	income	for	the	half	year	 	 (5.1)	 42.9

(loss)/profit	for	the	half	year	is	attributable	to:
—	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 (12.7)	 47.2
—	non-controlling	interest	(“nci”)	 	 0.3	 1.8

	 	 (12.4)	 49.0

total	comprehensive	income	for	the	half	year	is	attributable	to:
—	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 (5.4)	 41.1
—	nci	 	 0.3	 1.8

	 	 (5.1)	 42.9

earnings	per	stapled	security	for	(loss)/profit	attributable	
to	the	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 cents	 cents

Basic	earnings	per	security	 4	 (0.38)	 1.67
diluted	earnings	per	security	 4	 (0.38)	 1.66

the	above	statement	of	comprehensive	income	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes.

stAteMent OF COMPRehensIVe InCOMe
FOR the hAlF yeAR ended 31 deCeMbeR 2010



08 mirvac	group	interim	report	for	the	hAlf	yeAr	ended	31	decemBer	2010

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 note	 $m	 $m

current	assets
cash	and	cash	equivalents	 16	 583.2	 582.0
receivables	 	 195.9	 203.8
derivative	financial	assets	 	 0.1	 2.0
current	tax	assets	 	 0.6	 2.1
inventories	 6	 649.6	 573.3
other	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	 	 25.3	 15.3
Assets	classified	as	held	for	sale	 	 31.2	 53.7
other	assets	 	 16.4	 26.0

total	current	assets	 	 1,502.3	 1,458.2

non-current	assets
receivables	 	 125.6	 182.2
inventories	 6	 806.8	 1,060.9
investments	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method	 7	 412.0	 410.6
derivative	financial	assets	 	 8.4	 14.0
investment	properties	 8	 5,359.5	 4,226.5
property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 366.7	 355.2
intangible	assets	 9	 72.6	 54.9
deferred	tax	assets	 	 163.1	 125.0

total	non-current	assets	 	 7,314.7	 6,429.3

total	assets	 	 8,817.0	 7,887.5

current	liabilities
payables	 	 275.3	 340.0
Borrowings	 10	 993.7	 327.7
derivative	financial	liabilities	 	 1.0	 0.5
provisions	 	 75.4	 71.9
other	liabilities	 	 4.6	 10.6

total	current	liabilities	 	 1,350.0	 750.7

non-current	liabilities
payables	 	 10.4	 10.4
Borrowings	 10	 1,694.2	 1,516.6
derivative	financial	liabilities	 	 107.6	 52.4
deferred	tax	liabilities	 	 129.2	 95.9
provisions	 	 5.1	 6.1

total	non-current	liabilities	 	 1,946.5	 1,681.4

total	liabilities	 	 3,296.5	 2,432.1

net	assets	 	 5,520.5	 5,455.4

equity
contributed	equity	 11	 6,307.0	 6,098.8
reserves	 	 120.2	 114.3
retained	earnings	 	 (917.7)	 (768.7)

equity	and	reserves	attributable	to	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 5,509.5	 5,444.4
nci	 	 11.0	 11.0

total	equity	 	 5,520.5	 5,455.4

the	above	statement	of	financial	position	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes.

stAteMent OF FInAnCIAl POsItIOn
At 31 deCeMbeR 2010
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	 Attributable	to	stapled	
	 securityholders	of	mirvac

	 contributed	 	 retained	
	 equity	 reserves	 earnings	 nci	 total	
consolidated	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

Balance	1	July	2010	 6,098.8	 114.3	 (768.7)	 11.0	 5,455.4

total	comprehensive	income	for	the	half	year	 —	 7.3	 (12.7)	 0.3	 (5.1)

security	based	payment	transactions	 —	 (1.4)	 —	 —	 (1.4)
security	based	compensation	 2.0	 —	 0.3	 —	 2.3
long	term	incentive	plan	(“lti	plan”)	and	
employee	incentive	scheme	(“eis”)	securities	
converted,	sold	or	forfeited	 2.1	 —	 —	 —	 2.1
contributions	of	equity,	net	of	transaction	costs	 204.1	 —	 —	 —	 204.1
dividends/distributions	provided	for	or	paid	 —	 —	 (136.6)	 (0.3)	 (136.9)

total	transactions	with	owners	in	their	capacity	as	owners	 208.2	 (1.4)	 (136.3)	 (0.3)	 70.2

balance	at	31	December	2010	 6,307.0	 120.2	 (917.7)	 11.0	 5,520.5

Balance	1	July	2009	 5,447.4	 110.5	 (755.1)	 64.8	 4,867.6
Adjustment	on	change	of	accounting	policy,	net	of	tax	 —	 —	 (7.1)	 —	 (7.1)

total	restated	equity	1	July	2009	 5,447.4	 110.5	 (762.2)	 64.8	 4,860.5

total	comprehensive	income	for	the	half	year	 —	 (6.1)	 47.2	 1.8	 42.9

security	based	payment	transactions	 —	 1.7	 —	 —	 1.7
lti	plan	and	eis	securities	converted,	sold	or	forfeited	 1.8	 —	 (0.3)	 —	 1.5
contributions	of	equity,	net	of	transaction	costs	 261.5	 —	 —	 —	 261.5
dividends/distributions	provided	for	or	paid	 —	 —	 (116.0)	 —	 (116.0)
nci	 —	 6.2	 —	 (56.2)	 (50.0)

total	transactions	with	owners	in	their	capacity	as	owners	 263.3	 7.9	 (116.3)	 (56.2)	 98.7

Balance	at	31	december	2009	 5,710.7	 112.3	 (831.3)	 10.4	 5,002.1

the	above	statement	of	changes	in	equity	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes.

stAteMent OF ChAnGes In eqUIty
FOR the hAlF yeAR ended 31 deCeMbeR 2010
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	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 note	 $m	 $m

cash	flows	from	operating	activities
receipts	from	customers	(inclusive	of	goods	and	services	tax)	 	 904.5	 760.3
payments	to	suppliers	and	employees	(inclusive	of	goods	and	services	tax)	 	 (775.2)	 (603.4)

	 	 129.3	 156.9
interest	received	 	 16.6	 14.3
Associate	and	joint	venture	dividends/distributions	received	 	 7.7	 8.8
dividends/distributions	received	 	 0.3	 0.3
Borrowing	costs	paid	 	 (92.9)	 (80.3)
income	tax	refund/(paid)	 	 1.6	 (1.3)

net	cash	inflows	from	operating	activities	 16	 62.6	 98.7

cash	flows	from	investing	activities
payments	for	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 (2.7)	 (4.8)
proceeds	from	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 0.1	 0.1
payments	for	investment	properties	 	 (52.9)	 (39.8)
proceeds	from	sale	of	investment	properties	and	assets	classified	as	held	for	sale	 	 119.0	 39.9
payments	for	loans	to	related	entities	 	 (0.5)	 (1.0)
proceeds	from	loans	to	related	entities	 	 —	 0.6
payments	for	loans	to	unrelated	entities	 	 (0.5)	 (1.2)
proceeds	from	loans	to	unrelated	entities	 	 7.7	 2.7
contributions	to	associates	and	joint	ventures	 	 (5.5)	 (24.3)
proceeds	from	associates	and	joint	ventures	 	 52.0	 6.3
Acquisition	of	subsidiaries,	net	of	cash	acquired	 	 (228.0)	 (25.5)
proceeds	from	sale	of	investments	 	 10.2	 4.4

net	cash	outflows	from	investing	activities	 	 (101.1)	 (42.6)

cash	flows	from	financing	activities
proceeds	from	borrowings	 	 1,189.6	 200.3
repayments	of	borrowings	 	 (1,008.5)	 (793.2)
payments	for	nci	 	 —	 (13.7)
proceeds	from	issue	of	stapled	securities	 	 —	 137.5
contributed	equity	raising	costs	 	 —	 (5.9)
dividends/distributions	paid	as	part	of	business	combination	 	 (8.0)	 (6.3)
dividends/distributions	paid	 	 (133.8)	 (59.4)

net	cash	inflows/(outflows)	from	financing	activities	 	 39.3	 (540.7)

net	increase/(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 0.8	 (484.6)
cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	half	year	 	 582.0	 896.5
effects	of	exchange	rate	changes	on	cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 0.4	 —

cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	end	of	the	half	year	 16	 583.2	 411.9

the	above	statement	of	cash	flows	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes.

stAteMent OF CAsh FlOws
FOR the hAlF yeAR ended 31 deCeMbeR 2010
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1	 basis	oF	preparation	oF	halF	Year	report

this	general	purpose	financial	report	for	the	interim	half	
year	reporting	period	ended	31	december	2010	has	been	
prepared	in	accordance	with	Accounting	standard	AAsB	
134	interim	financial	reporting	and	the	corporations	
Act	2001.	the	financial	statements	of	mirvac	consist	of	
the	consolidated	financial	statements	of	mirvac	limited	
(the	parent	entity)	and	its	controlled	entities,	which	
includes	mpt	and	its	controlled	entities.	A	mirvac	stapled	
security	comprises	one	mirvac	limited	share	stapled	
to	one	mpt	unit	to	create	a	single	listed	entity	traded	
on	the	AsX.	the	stapled	securities	cannot	be	traded	or	
dealt	with	separately.

this	interim	report	does	not	include	all	the	notes	of	the	
type	normally	included	in	an	annual	financial	report.	
Accordingly,	this	report	is	to	be	read	in	conjunction	with	
the	annual	report	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2010	
and	any	public	announcements	made	by	mirvac	
during	the	interim	reporting	period	in	accordance	
with	the	continuous	disclosure	requirements	of	the	
corporations	Act	2001.	the	accounting	policies	adopted	
are	consistent	with	those	of	the	previous	financial	year	
and	corresponding	interim	reporting	period.

a)	 impact	of	standards	issued	but	not	yet	applied
in	december	2009,	the	Australian	Accounting	standards	
Board	(“AAsB”)	issued	AAsB	9	financial	instruments	
which	addresses	the	classification	and	measurement	
of	financial	assets	and	is	likely	to	affect	the	group’s	
accounting	for	its	financial	assets.	the	standard	is	not	
applicable	until	1	January	2013	but	is	available	for	early	
adoption.	the	group	is	yet	to	assess	its	full	impact.	
however,	initial	indications	are	that	it	may	affect	the	
group’s	accounting	for	its	available-for-sale	financial	
assets,	since	AAsB	9	only	permits	the	recognition	of	fair	
value	gains	and	losses	in	other	comprehensive	income	
if	they	relate	to	equity	investments	that	are	not	held	
for	trading.	the	group	has	not	yet	decided	when	to	
adopt	AAsB	9.

in	december	2010,	the	AAsB	amended	AAsB	112	income	
taxes	to	provide	a	practical	approach	for	measuring	
deferred	tax	liabilities	and	deferred	tax	assets	when	
investment	property	is	measured	using	the	fair	value	model.	
AAsB	112	requires	the	measurement	of	deferred	tax	assets	
or	liabilities	to	reflect	the	tax	consequences	that	would	
follow	from	the	way	management	expects	to	recover	or	
settle	the	carrying	of	the	relevant	assets	or	liabilities.	the	
group	will	apply	the	amendment	from	1	July	2012.	it	is	
currently	evaluating	the	impact	of	the	amendment.

2	 critical	accounting	juDgements	
anD	estimates

Judgements	and	estimates	are	continually	evaluated,	
based	on	historical	experience	and	other	factors,	
including	expectations	of	future	events	that	may	have	a	
financial	impact	and	are	believed	to	be	reasonable	under	
the	circumstances.

a)	 critical	judgements	in	applying	mirvac’s	
accounting	policies

the	following	are	the	critical	judgements	that	
management	has	made	in	the	process	of	applying	the	
group’s	accounting	policies	and	that	have	the	most	
significant	effect	on	the	amounts	recognised	in	the	
financial	statements:

i) Revenue recognition
the	measurement	of	development	revenue,	which	is	
recognised	when	the	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	
ownership	are	transferred	to	the	purchaser,	requires	
management	to	exercise	its	judgement	in	setting	selling	
prices,	given	due	consideration	to	cost	inputs	and	market	
conditions.	the	measurement	of	construction	revenue,	
which	is	recognised	upon	construction	contracts	on	a	
percentage	of	completion	basis,	requires	an	estimate	
of	expenses	incurred	to	date	as	a	percentage	of	total	
estimated	costs.

ii) Cost of goods sold
inventories	are	expensed	as	cost	of	goods	sold	upon	
sale.	management	uses	its	judgement	in	determining	the	
apportionment	of	cost	of	goods	sold,	through	either	unit	
entitlement	or	percentage	of	revenue,	the	quantum	of	
cost	of	goods	sold,	which	includes	both	costs	incurred	
to	date	and	forecast	final	costs,	and	the	nature	of	cost	
of	goods	sold,	which	may	include	acquisition	costs,	
borrowing	costs	and	those	costs	incurred	in	bringing	the	
inventories	to	a	saleable	state.

iii) Provision for loss on inventories
mirvac	is	required	to	carry	inventories	at	the	lower	of	
cost	and	net	realisable	value	(“nrv”).	through	the	use	
of	project	feasibility	assessments,	which	are	based	on	
the	most	reliable	evidence	available	at	the	time,	and	
incorporate	both	quantitative	and	qualitative	factors,	
such	as	estimated	selling	rates	and	cost	to	complete,	
judgement	is	made	concerning	estimated	nrv,	which,	
in	some	cases,	has	resulted	in	the	establishment	
of	a	provision.

iv) Investment properties and owner-occupied 
administration properties

mirvac	is	required	to	make	a	judgement	to	determine	
whether	a	property	qualifies	as	an	investment	property	
or	property,	plant	and	equipment	in	the	cases	where	part	
of	the	building	is	occupied	by	the	group.	each	property	
is	considered	individually.	where	10	per	cent	or	more	of	
the	lettable	space	is	occupied	by	the	group,	the	property	
is	normally	treated	as	owner-occupied	and	accounted	for	
as	part	of	property,	plant	and	equipment.

v) Fair value estimation
some	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	carried	at	fair	
value.	the	fair	value	is	based	on	assumptions	of	future	
events	and	involves	significant	estimates.	the	fair	values	
of	derivatives	reported	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	
may	differ	if	there	is	volatility	in	market	rates,	indexes,	
equity	prices	or	foreign	exchange	rates	in	future	periods.

nOtes tO the FInAnCIAl stAteMents 
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iv) Fair value of investments not traded 
in active markets

the	fair	value	of	investments	not	traded	in	an	active	
market	is	determined	by	the	unit	price	as	advised	by	
the	fund	manager.	the	unit	price	is	determined	by	npv	
calculations,	using	future	cash	flows	and	an	appropriate	
post-tax	discount	rate.	the	carrying	value	of	investments	
not	traded	in	an	active	market	determined	using	
the	above	techniques	and	assumptions	was	$15.3m	
(June	2010:	$15.3m)	and	is	disclosed	as	other	financial	
assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.

v) Carrying value of management rights
the	carrying	value	of	management	rights	is	initially	
carried	at	fair	value	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	mirvac	
has	used	discounted	cash	flow	(“dcf”)	analysis	to	
assess	the	carrying	value	of	the	acquired	management	
rights.	during	the	period,	there	was	no	impairment	of	
management	rights	(december	2009:	$nil).	the	carrying	
value	of	management	rights	at	31	december	2010	was	
$3.2m	(June	2010:	$10.5m)	and	is	disclosed	as	part	of	
intangible	assets.

vi) Valuation of investment properties and 
owner-occupied properties

mirvac	uses	judgement	in	respect	of	the	fair	values	of	
investment	properties	and	owner-occupied	properties.	
investment	properties	and	owner-occupied	properties	
are	revalued	by	external	valuers	on	a	rotation	basis,	with	
approximately	one-half	of	the	portfolio	being	valued	
annually.	investment	properties	which	are	not	subject	
to	an	external	valuation	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	
period	are	fair	valued	internally	by	management.	
the	assumptions	used	in	the	estimations	of	fair	values	
include	expected	future	market	rentals,	discount	rates,	
market	prices	and	economic	conditions.	the	carrying	
value	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	for	investment	
properties	was	$5,359.5m	(June	2010:	$4,226.5m)	
and	owner-occupied	properties	was	$287.2m	
(June	2010:	$272.7m).

vii) Valuation of IPUC
ipuc	are	valued	at	fair	value.	there	are	generally	no	
active	markets	for	ipuc	and	fair	value	is	considered	
to	be	the	estimated	market	price	that	would	be	paid	
for	the	partially	completed	property,	reflecting	the	
expectations	of	market	participants	of	the	value	of	
the	property	when	complete	less	deductions	for	the	
estimated	cost	to	complete	with	appropriate	adjustments	
for	risk	and	profit.	the	fair	value	is	determined	on	the	
basis	of	either	dcf	or	residual	methods.	Both	methods	
require	consideration	of	the	project	risks	which	are	
relevant	to	the	development	process,	including	but	not	
limited	to	construction	and	letting	risks.	the	estimated	
value	of	future	assets	is	based	on	the	expected	future	
income	from	the	project,	using	current	yields	of	similar	
completed	properties.	the	net	loss	on	fair	value	of	ipuc	
for	the	half	year	was	$48.1m	(december	2009:	$86.3m).	
the	carrying	value	of	$78.5m	(June	2010:	$89.5m)	
at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	is	included	
in	investment	properties.

2	 critical	accounting	juDgements	
anD	estimates	(continueD)

vi) security based payment transactions
the	group	measures	the	cost	of	equity	settled	securities	
allocated	to	employees	by	reference	to	the	fair	value	
of	the	equity	instruments	at	the	date	at	which	they	are	
granted.	the	fair	value	is	determined	by	an	external	
valuer	using	the	monte	carlo	simulation	pricing	method;	
this	method	includes	a	number	of	judgements	and	
assumptions.	these	judgements	and	assumptions	
relating	to	security	based	payments	would	have	no	
impact	on	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	
in	the	statement	of	financial	position,	but	may	impact	the	
security	based	payment	expense	taken	to	profit	or	loss	
and	equity.

b)	 Key	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty
in	preparing	the	financial	statements,	management	is	
required	to	make	estimations	and	assumptions.	the	
following	are	the	key	assumptions	concerning	the	future,	
and	other	key	sources	of	estimation	uncertainty	at	the	
end	of	the	reporting	period,	that	have	a	significant	risk	of	
causing	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	
assets	and	liabilities	within	the	next	12	months:

i) Inventories
the	nrv	of	inventories	is	the	estimated	selling	price	
in	the	ordinary	course	of	business	less	estimated	costs	
of	completion	and	cost	to	sell.	such	estimates	take	
into	consideration	fluctuations	of	price	or	cost	directly	
relating	to	events	occurring	after	the	end	of	the	period	to	
the	extent	that	such	events	confirm	conditions	existing	
at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.	the	key	assumptions	
require	the	use	of	management	judgement	and	are	
reviewed	quarterly.	during	the	half	year,	mirvac	expensed	
$215.0m	(december	2009:	$nil)	in	relation	to	inventories	
that	were	carried	in	excess	of	the	nrv.

ii) Impairment of goodwill
mirvac	annually	tests	whether	goodwill	has	suffered	any	
impairment.	determining	whether	goodwill	is	impaired	
requires	an	estimation	of	the	value	in	use	of	the	cash	
generating	units	(“cgus”)	to	which	goodwill	has	been	
allocated.	the	value	in	use	calculation	requires	the	
entity	to	estimate	the	future	cash	flows	expected	to	
arise	from	each	cgu	and	a	suitable	discount	rate	in	
order	to	calculate	the	net	present	value	(“npv”).	the	
carrying	amount	of	goodwill	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	
period	was	$69.4m	(June	2010:	$44.4m).	there	was	
no	impairment	loss	recognised	during	the	half	year	
(december	2009:	$nil).

iii) estimated impairment of investments accounted 
for using the equity method

mirvac	tests	investments	accounted	for	using	the	equity	
method,	by	comparing	recoverable	amounts	(higher	
of	value	in	use,	and	fair	value	less	cost	to	sell)	with	the	
carrying	amounts,	whenever	there	is	an	indication	that	
an	investment	may	be	impaired.	in	determining	the	value	
in	use	of	the	investment,	mirvac	estimates	the	present	
value	of	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	expected	
to	arise	from	distributions	to	be	received	from	the	
investment	and	from	its	ultimate	disposal.

nOtes tO the FInAnCIAl stAteMents 



13mirvac	group	interim	report	for	the	hAlf	yeAr	ended	31	decemBer	2010

2	 critical	accounting	juDgements	
anD	estimates	(continueD)

viii) Valuation of assets acquired in business 
combinations

during	the	period,	mirvac	completed	the	acquisition	of	
wop	(refer	to	note	17).	on	recognising	this	acquisition,	
management	used	estimations	and	assumptions	on	the	
fair	value	of	the	assets	and	liabilities	assumed	at	the	
date	of	control.

ix) Valuation of security based payment transactions
valuation	of	security	based	payment	transactions	is	
performed	using	judgements	around	the	fair	value	of	
the	equity	instruments	on	the	date	at	which	they	are	
granted.	the	fair	value	is	determined	using	the	monte	
carlo	simulation	option	pricing	model.	mirvac	recognises	
a	security	based	payment	over	the	vesting	period	which	
is	based	on	the	estimation	of	the	number	of	equity	
instruments	likely	to	vest.	At	the	end	of	the	vesting	
period,	mirvac	will	assess	the	total	expense	recognised	
in	comparison	to	the	number	of	equity	instruments	that	
ultimately	vested.

x) Valuation of derivatives and other 
financial instruments

mirvac	uses	judgement	in	selecting	the	appropriate	
valuation	technique	for	financial	instruments	not	quoted	
in	an	active	market.	valuation	of	derivative	financial	
instruments	involves	assumptions	based	on	quoted	
market	rates	adjusted	for	specific	features	of	the	
instrument.	the	valuations	of	any	financial	instrument	
may	change	in	the	event	of	market	volatility.

3	 segmental	inFormation

a)	 Description	of	business	segments
management	has	determined	the	segments	based	on	
the	reports	reviewed	by	the	executive	leadership	team	
(“elt”)	that	are	used	to	make	strategic	decisions.	the	
elt	considers	the	business	from	both	a	product,	and	
within	Australia	a	geographic,	perspective.	each	division	
prepares	an	executive	finance	report	on	a	monthly	basis;	
this	is	a	detailed	report	that	summarises	the	following:

—	historic	results	of	the	division,	using	both	statutory	
profit	and	operating	profit;

—	 future	forecast	of	the	division	for	the	remainder	
of	the	year;	and

—	key	risks	and	opportunities	facing	the	division.

the	elt	assesses	the	performance	of	the	segments	
based	on	a	number	of	measures,	both	financial	and	
non-financial,	which	include	a	measure	of	operating	
profit	(which	is	defined	below);	the	use	of	capital;	
and	success	in	delivering	against	key	performance	
indicators.	the	elt	has	identified	two	core	divisions,	
investment	and	development.	Applying	the	
requirements	of	AAsB	8	operating	segments,	
mirvac	has	four	reportable	segments:

i) Investment
the	division	is	made	up	solely	of	mpt	which	holds	
investments	in	properties	covering	the	office,	retail,	
industrial	and	hotel	sectors	throughout	Australia,	held	for	
the	purpose	of	producing	rental	income,	predominately	
through	the	trust,	its	subsidiary	trusts	and	corporate	
entities	holding	investment	properties.	income	is	also	
derived	from	investments	in	associates	including	mirvac	
industrial	trust	and	mirvac	wholesale	hotel	fund.

ii) hotel Management
hotel	management	is	responsible	for	management	
of	hotels	across	Australia	and	new	Zealand.

iii) Investment Management
mim	manages	listed	and	unlisted	property	funds	on	
behalf	of	retail	and	institutional	investors.	mim	has	been	
disposing	of	non-aligned	funds	over	the	past	two	years	
in	line	with	the	group’s	strategy	to	focus	on	wholesale	
investor	partnerships,	providing	capital	for	the	group’s	
two	core	divisions,	investment	and	development.	mim	
also	includes	mirvac	Asset	management	(“mAm”).	mAm	
manages	assets	on	behalf	of	mpt	and	external	property	
owners	across	the	real	estate	spectrum.

iv) development
the	division’s	primary	operations	are	property	
development	and	construction	of	residential,	office,	
industrial	and	retail	development	projects	throughout	
Australia.	in	addition,	project	management	fees	are	
received	from	the	management	of	development	and	
construction	projects	on	behalf	of	associates,	joint	
ventures	and	residential	development	funds.

b)	 inter-segment	transfers
segment	revenues,	expenses	and	results	include	
transfers	between	segments.	such	transfers	are	on	
an	arm’s	length	basis	and	eliminated	on	consolidation.

c)	 elimination
the	elimination	segment	includes	adjustment	to	
eliminate	trading	between	segments	and	to	transfer	
balances	to	reflect	correct	disclosure	of	items	on	a	
consolidated	basis.

d)	 comparative	information
when	necessary,	comparative	information	has	been	
reclassified	to	achieve	consistency	in	disclosure	in	
current	period	amounts	and	other	disclosures.

e)	 operating	profit
operating	profit	is	a	financial	measure	which	is	not	
prescribed	by	AAs	and	represents	the	profit	under	
AAs	adjusted	for	specific	non-cash	items	and	significant	
items,	which	management	considers	to	reflect	the	core	
earnings	of	the	group.

f)	 geographical	and	customer	analysis
mirvac	operates	predominately	in	Australia	with	
investments	in	new	Zealand,	the	united	states	of	
America	and	the	united	kingdom.	materially,	revenue	is	
derived	in	Australia	and	assets	are	in	Australia.	no	single	
customer	in	the	current	or	prior	corresponding	period	
provided	more	than	10	per	cent	of	the	group’s	revenue.
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3	 segmental	inFormation	(continueD)
	 	 hotel	 investment	
	 investment	 management	 management	 development	 unallocated	 elimination	 total	
half	year	ended	31	December	2010	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

revenue	from	continuing	operations
investment	properties	rental	revenue	 266.4	 —	 2.3	 —	 —	 (1.6)	 267.1
hotel	operating	revenue	 —	 83.1	 —	 —	 —	 —	 83.1
investment	management	fee	revenue	 —	 —	 10.7	 —	 —	 (0.9)	 9.8
development	and	construction	revenue	 —	 —	 —	 453.7	 —	 1.2	 454.9
development	management	fee	revenue	 —	 —	 —	 9.3	 —	 0.7	 10.0
interest	revenue	 13.4	 0.1	 2.6	 3.6	 4.8	 (0.2)	 24.3
dividend	and	distribution	revenue	 0.5	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.2)	 0.3
other	revenue	 —	 0.3	 1.9	 4.5	 1.0	 —	 7.7
inter-segment	sales	 25.2	 —	 8.5	 17.7	 0.3	 (51.7)	 —

total	revenue	from	continuing	operations	 305.5	 83.5	 26.0	 488.8	 6.1	 (52.7)	 857.2

share	of	net	profit/(loss)	of	associates	
and	joint	ventures	accounted	for	
using	the	equity	method	 15.3	 —	 0.1	 0.3	 0.2	 (0.4)	 15.5
net	gain/(loss)	from	fair	value	of	investment	
properties	and	owner-occupied	hotel	
management	lots	and	freehold	hotels	 83.0	 (0.1)	 —	 —	 —	 (6.8)	 76.1
gain	on	financial	instruments	 11.9	 —	 —	 —	 22.3	 —	 34.2
foreign	exchange	gain/(loss)	 2.8	 (0.2)	 —	 —	 71.0	 —	 73.6
net	gain/(loss)	on	sale	of	investments	 —	 —	 3.1	 —	 (1.6)	 —	 1.5

total	other	income	 113.0	 (0.3)	 3.2	 0.3	 91.9	 (7.2)	 200.9

total	revenue	from	continuing	
operations	and	other	income	 418.5	 83.2	 29.2	 489.1	 98.0	 (59.9)	 1,058.1

net	loss	on	fair	value	of	ipuc	 (48.1)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (48.1)
net	loss	on	sale	of	investment	properties	 (0.7)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.7)
net	loss	on	sale	of	property,	
plant	and	equipment	 —	 (0.7)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.7)
investment	properties	expenses	 (62.5)	 —	 (1.6)	 —	 —	 6.0	 (58.1)
hotel	operating	expenses	 —	 (26.3)	 —	 (0.3)	 —	 1.0	 (25.6)
cost	of	property	development	
and	construction	 —	 —	 —	 (419.0)	 —	 16.9	 (402.1)
employee	benefits	expenses	 —	 (40.0)	 (10.3)	 (8.9)	 (19.3)	 (0.7)	 (79.2)
depreciation	and	amortisation	expenses	 (8.6)	 (2.4)	 (0.1)	 (1.5)	 (1.0)	 (2.1)	 (15.7)
impairment	of	loans	 —	 —	 (0.6)	 —	 —	 —	 (0.6)
finance	costs	 (42.7)	 —	 (8.6)	 (25.6)	 (5.8)	 25.5	 (57.2)
loss	on	financial	instruments	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (97.4)	 —	 (97.4)
selling	and	marketing	expenses	 —	 (5.2)	 (0.3)	 (10.6)	 —	 —	 (16.1)
provision	for	loss	on	inventories	 —	 —	 —	 (215.0)	 —	 —	 (215.0)
Business	combination	transaction	costs	 (16.8)	 —	 —	 —	 (15.0)	 —	 (31.8)
other	expenses	 (4.4)	 (3.8)	 (6.0)	 (7.6)	 (12.2)	 7.4	 (26.6)

profit/(loss)	before	income	tax	 234.7	 4.8	 1.7	 (199.4)	 (52.7)	 (5.9)	 (16.8)
income	tax	benefit	 	 	 	 	 	 	 4.4

loss	for	the	half	year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (12.4)
profit	attributable	to	nci	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.3)

loss	attributable	to	the	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 	 	 	 	 (12.7)
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3	 segmental	inFormation	(continueD)
	 	 hotel	 investment	
	 investment	 management	 management	 development	 unallocated	 elimination	 tax	 total	
half	year	ended	31	December	2010	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

profit/(loss)	for	the	half	year	
after	tax	before	nci	 234.7	 4.8	 1.7	 (199.4)	 (52.7)	 (5.9)	 4.4	 (12.4)
less:	profit	attributable	to	nci	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.3)	 —	 (0.3)

profit/(loss)	attributable	to	the	
stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 234.7	 4.8	 1.7	 (199.4)	 (52.7)	 (6.2)	 4.4	 (12.7)

specific	non-cash	items
net	(gain)/loss	from	fair	value	of	
investment	properties	and	owner-	
occupied	hotel	management	lots	
and	freehold	hotels	 (83.0)	 0.1	 —	 —	 —	 6.8	 —	 (76.1)
net	loss	on	fair	value	of	ipuc	 48.1	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 48.1
net	(gain)/loss	on	fair	value	of	
derivative	financial	instruments	
and	associated	foreign	
exchange	movements	 (14.7)	 0.2	 —	 —	 4.1	 —	 —	 (10.4)
security	based	payment	expense	 —	 —	 —	 —	 2.7	 —	 —	 2.7
depreciation	of	owner-occupied	
investment	properties,	hotels	
and	hotel	management	lots	
(including	hotel	property,	
plant	and	equipment)	 —	 0.8	 —	 0.3	 —	 2.9	 —	 4.0
straight-lining	of	lease	revenue	 (7.6)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (7.6)
Amortisation	of	lease	incentives	 6.2	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.9)	 —	 5.3
net	(gain)/loss	from	fair	value	
of	investment	properties,	
derivatives	and	other	specific	
non-cash	items	included	in	share	
of	net	profit	of	associates	 (1.5)	 —	 0.7	 (0.1)	 (0.1)	 —	 —	 (1.0)

significant	items
provision	for	loss	on	inventories	 —	 —	 —	 215.0	 —	 —	 —	 215.0
Business	combination	
transaction	costs	 16.8	 —	 —	 —	 15.0	 —	 —	 31.8

tax	effect
tax	effect	of	specific	non-cash	
items	and	significant	items	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 1.0	 1.0

operating	profit/(loss)	
(profit	before	specific	non-cash	
items	and	significant	items)	 199.0	 5.9	 2.4	 15.8	 (31.0)	 2.6	 5.4	 200.1
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3	segmental	inFormation	(continueD)
	 	 hotel	 investment	
	 investment	 management	 management	 development	 unallocated	 elimination	 total	
half	year	ended	31	december	2009	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

revenue	from	continuing	operations
investment	properties	rental	revenue	 179.7	 —	 4.8	 —	 —	 (3.5)	 181.0
hotel	operating	revenue	 —	 76.3	 —	 —	 —	 (0.1)	 76.2
investment	management	fee	revenue	 —	 —	 19.8	 —	 —	 (2.6)	 17.2
development	and	construction	revenue	 —	 —	 —	 382.3	 —	 (0.4)	 381.9
development	management	fee	revenue	 —	 —	 0.1	 18.5	 —	 (1.8)	 16.8
interest	revenue	 14.7	 0.1	 2.9	 3.5	 3.1	 (0.3)	 24.0
dividend	and	distribution	revenue	 0.6	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.3)	 0.3
other	revenue	 1.0	 0.3	 2.1	 2.7	 0.8	 (0.8)	 6.1
inter-segment	sales	 27.1	 —	 5.2	 17.7	 0.8	 (50.8)	 —

total	revenue	from	continuing	operations	 223.1	 76.7	 34.9	 424.7	 4.7	 (60.6)	 703.5

share	of	net	profit/(loss)	of	associates	and	joint	
ventures	accounted	for	using	equity	method	 1.1	 —	 —	 9.3	 —	 (3.2)	 7.2
foreign	exchange	gain	 —	 —	 —	 —	 44.1	 —	 44.1
net	gain/(loss)	on	sale	of	investments	 0.5	 —	 1.7	 0.1	 —	 (0.5)	 1.8
net	gain	on	sale	of	investment	properties	 0.3	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 0.3
discount	on	business	combination	 119.8	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 119.8
net	gain	on	re-measurement	of	equity	interest	 25.3	 —	 (1.1)	 —	 —	 6.7	 30.9

total	other	income	 147.0	 —	 0.6	 9.4	 44.1	 3.0	 204.1

total	revenue	from	continuing	
operations	and	other	income	 370.1	 76.7	 35.5	 434.1	 48.8	 (57.6)	 907.6

net	loss	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties	 (124.6)	 —	 —	 (0.1)	 —	 8.7	 (116.0)
net	loss	on	fair	value	of	ipuc	 (86.3)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (86.3)
net	loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 —	 —	 (0.3)	 (0.3)	 —	 —	 (0.6)
cost	of	property	development	and	construction	 —	 —	 —	 (374.6)	 —	 16.9	 (357.7)
investment	properties	expenses	 (50.3)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 4.4	 (45.9)
hotel	operating	expenses	 —	 (25.3)	 —	 (0.4)	 —	 1.2	 (24.5)
employee	benefits	expenses	 —	 (35.7)	 (15.7)	 (19.1)	 (19.6)	 —	 (90.1)
depreciation	and	amortisation	expenses	 (7.4)	 (2.6)	 (0.4)	 (1.7)	 (1.3)	 (1.5)	 (14.9)
impairment	of	loans	 —	 —	 (0.5)	 —	 —	 —	 (0.5)
finance	costs	 (26.3)	 —	 (8.4)	 (11.3)	 (7.3)	 27.1	 (26.2)
loss	on	financial	instruments	 0.9	 —	 0.1	 —	 (29.0)	 0.7	 (27.3)
selling	and	marketing	expenses	 —	 (4.4)	 (0.5)	 (6.2)	 —	 —	 (11.1)
Business	combination	transaction	costs	 (22.0)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (22.0)
other	expenses	 (2.6)	 (2.8)	 (12.5)	 (15.3)	 (7.7)	 6.1	 (34.8)

profit/(loss)	before	income	tax	 51.5	 5.9	 (2.7)	 5.1	 (16.1)	 6.0	 49.7
income	tax	expense	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (0.7)

profit	for	the	half	year	 	 	 	 	 	 	 49.0
profit	attributable	to	nci	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (1.8)

profit	attributable	to	the	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 	 	 	 	 47.2
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3	 segmental	inFormation	(continueD)
	 	 hotel	 investment	
	 investment	 management	 management	 development	 unallocated	 elimination	 tax	 total	
half	year	ended	31	december	2009	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

profit/(loss)	for	the	half	year	
after	tax	before	nci	 51.5	 5.9	 (2.7)	 5.1	 (16.1)	 6.0	 (0.7)	 49.0
less:	profit	attributable	to	nci	 (1.4)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.4)	 —	 (1.8)

profit/(loss)	attributable	to	the	
stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 50.1	 5.9	 (2.7)	 5.1	 (16.1)	 5.6	 (0.7)	 47.2

specific	non-cash	items
net	loss	from	fair	value	of	investment	
properties	(excluding	owner-occupied)	 124.6	 —	 —	 0.1	 —	 (8.7)	 —	 116.0
net	loss	from	fair	value	of	ipuc	 86.3	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 86.3
net	gain	on	fair	value	of	derivative	
financial	instruments	and	associated	
foreign	exchange	movements	 (0.9)	 —	 (0.1)	 —	 (15.0)	 (0.7)	 —	 (16.7)
security	based	payment	expense	 —	 —	 —	 —	 2.5	 —	 —	 2.5
depreciation	of	owner-occupied	
investment	properties,	hotels	and	
hotel	management	lots	(including	
hotel	property,	plant	and	equipment)	 —	 0.7	 —	 0.2	 —	 2.5	 —	 3.4
straight-lining	of	lease	revenue	 (0.3)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (0.3)
Amortisation	of	lease	incentives	 5.8	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (1.0)	 —	 4.8
net	loss	on	fair	value	of	investment	
properties,	derivatives	and	other	
specific	non-cash	items	included	
in	share	of	net	loss	of	associates	 8.3	 —	 —	 —	 —	 2.9	 —	 11.2

significant	items
net	gain	on	sale	of	non-aligned	assets	 (0.8)	 —	 —	 (0.1)	 —	 —	 —	 (0.9)
discount	on	business	combination	 (119.8)	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 (119.8)
net	gain	on	remeasurement	
of	equity	interest	 (25.3)	 —	 1.1	 —	 —	 (6.7)	 —	 (30.9)
Business	combination	transaction	costs	 22.0	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 22.0

tax	effect
tax	effect	of	specific	non-cash	
items	and	significant	items	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 4.6	 4.6

operating	profit/(loss)	
(profit	before	specific	non-cash	
items	and	significant	items)	 150.0	 6.6	 (1.7)	 5.3	 (28.6)	 (6.1)	 3.9	 129.4

	 	 hotel	 investment	
	 investment	 management	 management	 development	 unallocated	 elimination	 total
	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

31	December	2010	1

total	assets	 7,057.8	 157.7	 85.2	 1,970.9	 165.9	 (620.5)	 8,817.0
total	liabilities	 1,535.3	 27.7	 10.2	 211.7	 2,071.7	 (560.1)	 3,296.5
investments	in	associates	and	joint	ventures	 213.2	 —	 15.4	 223.6	 2.1	 (42.3)	 412.0
Acquisitions	of	investments	and	
property,	plant	and	equipment	 1,218.1	 1.7	 0.8	 0.9	 0.4	 —	 1,221.9
depreciation	and	amortisation	expenses	 8.6	 2.4	 0.1	 1.5	 1.0	 2.1	 15.7

31	december	2009	1

total	assets	 5,403.5	 140.1	 129.6	 2,363.0	 162.1	 (714.7)	 7,483.6
total	liabilities	 755.7	 26.1	 47.8	 198.8	 2,098.8	 (645.7)	 2,481.5
investments	in	associates	and	joint	ventures	 211.2	 —	 22.6	 223.9	 1.9	 (47.0)	 412.6
Acquisitions	of	investments	and	
property,	plant	and	equipment	 1,059.3	 1.5	 2.4	 20.5	 0.1	 —	 1,083.8
depreciation	and	amortisation	expenses	 7.4	 2.6	 0.4	 1.7	 1.3	 1.5	 14.9

1)	 divisional	segment	assets	and	liabilities	have	been	adjusted	to	eliminate	all	inter-divisional	balances	(including	inter-company	balances,	investment	
in	subsidiaries	and	inter-company	loans).	comparatives	have	been	restated	on	the	same	basis.
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4	 earnings	per	securitY

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 cents	 cents

earnings	per	security
Basic	earnings	per	security	 	 (0.38)	 1.67
diluted	earnings	per	security	1	 	 (0.38)	 1.66

	 	 $m	 $m

basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	security
(loss)/profit	attributable	to	the	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	
used	in	calculating	earnings	per	security	 	 (12.7)	 47.2

	 	 number	 number	
weighted	average	number	of	securities	used	as	denominator	1	 	 m	 m

weighted	average	number	of	securities	used	in	calculating	basic	earnings	per	security	 	 3,376.6	 2,820.8
Adjustment	for	calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	security
securities	issued	under	eis	 	 11.5	 15.7

weighted	average	number	of	securities	used	in	calculating	diluted	earnings	per	security	 3,388.1	 2,836.5

1)	 diluted	securities	do	not	include	the	options	and	rights	issued	under	the	previous	lti	plan	as	the	exercise	of	these	equity	instruments	is	contingent	
on	conditions	during	the	vesting	period.

5	 Finance	costs

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 $m	 $m

interest	and	finance	charges	paid/payable,	net	of	provision	release	 	 79.7	 58.3
Amount	capitalised	 	 (45.6)	 (39.4)
interest	capitalised	in	current	and	prior	periods	expensed	this	period,	net	of	provision	release	 22.3	 5.9
Borrowing	costs	amortised	 	 0.8	 1.4

total	finance	costs	 	 57.2	 26.2

6	 inventories	1

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 	 $m	 $m

current
development projects
cost	of	acquisition	 	 430.9	 242.5
development	costs	 	 389.2	 368.6
Borrowing	costs	capitalised	during	development	 	 101.9	 70.4
provision	for	loss	 	 (273.8)	 (109.3)

	 	 648.2	 572.2

Construction work in progress	(amount	due	from	customers	for	contract	work)
contract	costs	incurred	and	recognised	profits	less	recognised	losses	 	 42.3	 17.2
Borrowing	costs	capitalised	during	construction	 	 —	 —
progress	billings	 	 (42.3)	 (17.2)

	 	 —	 —
hotel	inventories	 	 1.4	 1.1

total	current	inventories	 	 649.6	 573.3

1)	 lower	of	cost	and	nrv.
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6	 inventories	1	(continueD)

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 	 $m	 $m

non-current
development projects
cost	of	acquisition	 	 556.2	 681.5
development	costs	 	 250.1	 344.5
Borrowing	costs	capitalised	during	development	 	 127.5	 142.9
provision	for	loss	 	 (127.0)	 (108.0)

	 	 806.8	 1,060.9

Construction work in progress	(amount	due	from	customers	for	contract	work)
contract	costs	incurred	and	recognised	profits	less	recognised	losses	 	 —	 —
Borrowing	costs	capitalised	 	 —	 —
progress	billings	 	 —	 —

	 	 —	 —

total	non-current	inventories	 	 806.8	 1,060.9

aggregate	carrying	amount	of	inventories
current	 	 649.6	 573.3
non-current	 	 806.8	 1,060.9

total	inventories	 	 1,456.4	 1,634.2

1)	 lower	of	cost	and	nrv.

7	 investments	accounteD	For	using	the	equitY	methoD

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 note	 $m	 $m

statement	of	financial	position
investments	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method
investments	in	associates	 13	 109.6	 110.3
investments	in	joint	ventures	 14	 302.4	 300.3

	 	 412.0	 410.6

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 $m	 $m

statement	of	comprehensive	income
share	of	net	profit	of	associates	and	joint	ventures	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method
investments	in	associates	 	 4.3	 2.3
investments	in	joint	ventures	 	 11.2	 4.9

	 	 15.5	 7.2
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8	 investment	properties
	 Book	value	 capitalisation	rate	 discount	rate	 last
	 	 31	Dec	 30	Jun	 31	Dec	 30	Jun	 31	Dec	 30	Jun	 date	of	 external	
	 date	of	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 last	external	 valuation	
	 acquisition	 $m	 $m	 %	 %	 %	 %	 valuation	 $m

mpt	and	its	controlled	entities
1	castlereagh	street,	sydney	nsw	 december	1998	 72.5	 68.0	 7.50	 7.65	 9.50	 9.50	 June	2010	 68.0
1	darling	island,	pyrmont,	nsw	 April	2004	 175.0	 163.0	 7.00	 7.25	 9.25	 9.25	 december	2010	 175.0
1	hugh	cairns	Avenue,	Bedford	park	sA	1,2	 August	2010	 17.8	 —	 9.00	 —	 10.50	 —	 —	 —
1	woolworths	way,	nso,	Bella	vista	nsw	1,2	 August	2010	 250.0	 —	 7.75	 —	 9.00	 —	 —	 —
8	chifley	square,	sydney	nsw	3	 october	2009	 —	 30.0	 —	 8.25	 —	 10.00	 —	 —
10	Julius	Avenue,	north	ryde	nsw	2	 december	2009	 52.7	 53.8	 8.25	 8.25	 9.75	 9.75	 —	 —
101-103	miller	street	&	greenwood	plaza,	
north	sydney	nsw	(50%	interest)	 June	1994	 238.5	 242.2	 6.75-7.00	 6.75-7.00	 9.00-9.25	 9.00-9.50	 december	2010	 238.5
10-20	Bond	street,	sydney	nsw	
(50%	interest)	2	 december	2009	 107.7	 92.3	 7.50	 7.50	 9.25	 9.25	 december	2009	 85.0
12	cribb	street,	milton	qld	2	 december	2009	 12.6	 13.3	 9.25	 9.00	 10.25	 10.25	 december	2009	 13.3
12	Julius	Avenue,	north	ryde	nsw	2	 december	2009	 22.8	 24.2	 8.50	 8.50	 9.50	 9.75	 —	 —
1-47	percival	road,	smithfield	nsw	 november	2002	 27.5	 27.5	 8.25	 8.25	 9.75	 9.75	 march	2010	 27.5
189	grey	street,	southbank	qld	 April	2004	 67.5	 65.0	 7.75	 7.75	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 65.0
19	corporate	drive,	cannon	hill	qld	1,2	 August	2010	 23.0	 —	 9.00	 —	 10.00	 —	 —	 —
190	george	street,	sydney	nsw	 August	2003	 36.8	 36.7	 8.75	 8.50	 9.50	 9.25	 december	2009	 36.7
1900-2060	pratt	Boulevard,	
chicago	illinois	usA	 december	2007	 30.8	 30.8	 8.00	 8.00	 10.00	 10.50	 december	2009	 33.6
191-197	salmon	street,	port	melbourne	vic	 July	2003	 102.3	 100.0	 7.75	 8.00	 9.25	 9.50	 June	2010	 100.0
200	george	street,	sydney	nsw	 october	2001	 24.8	 24.8	 8.25	 8.25	 9.50	 9.25	 december	2009	 24.8
271	lane	cove	road,	north	ryde	nsw	 April	2000	 32.5	 33.0	 8.00	 8.00	 9.50	 9.50	 June	2010	 33.0
275	kent	street,	sydney	nsw	1,2	 August	2010	 745.0	 —	 6.75	 —	 8.75	 —	 december	2010	 745.0
3	rider	Boulevard,	rhodes	nsw	2	 december	2009	 76.3	 73.0	 7.75	 8.00	 9.25	 9.25	 —	 —
32	sargents	road,	minchinbury	nsw	2	 december	2009	 24.3	 24.1	 8.75	 8.75	 9.00	 9.25	 —	 —
33	corporate	drive,	cannon	hill	qld	1,2	 August	2010	 17.8	 —	 8.75	 —	 9.25	 —	 —	 —
340	Adelaide	street,	Brisbane	qld	2	 december	2009	 56.0	 67.0	 9.00	 9.00	 10.00	 9.50	 december	2010	 56.0
38	sydney	Avenue,	forrest	Act	 June	1996	 35.0	 37.5	 8.50	 8.75	 9.50	 9.25	 december	2010	 35.0
40	miller	street,	north	sydney	nsw	 march	1998	 97.2	 93.5	 7.25	 7.50	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 93.5
47-67	westgate	drive,	Altona	north	vic	2	 december	2009	 19.6	 19.2	 9.50	 9.50	 10.00	 10.00	 december	2009	 19.0
52	huntingwood	drive,	huntingwood	nsw	2	 december	2009	 22.4	 23.0	 9.00	 9.00	 9.50	 9.50	 —	 —
54	marcus	clarke	street,	canberra	Act	 october	1987	 15.8	 16.0	 9.50	 9.50	 9.75	 9.75	 december	2010	 15.8
54-60	talavera	road,	north	ryde	nsw	1,2	 August	2010	 45.0	 —	 7.50	 —	 9.50	 —	 december	2010	 45.0
55	coonara	Avenue,	west	pennant	hills	nsw	1,2	 August	2010	 99.0	 —	 8.50	 —	 9.50	 —	 december	2010	 99.0
64	Biloela	street,	villawood	nsw	 february	2004	 19.5	 21.5	 9.50	 9.50	 10.50	 10.50	 september	2009	 21.5
Aviation	house,	16	furzer	street,	phillip	Act	 July	2007	 69.8	 67.0	 7.50	 7.75	 9.25	 9.50	 June	2010	 67.0
Ballina	central,	Ballina	nsw	 december	2004	 29.0	 32.0	 8.25	 8.25	 9.75	 9.75	 June	2009	 34.5
Bay	centre,	pirrama	road,	pyrmont	nsw	 June	2001	 110.0	 97.0	 7.50	 7.50	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 97.0
Blacktown	megacentre,	Blacktown	nsw	4	 June	2002	 —	 26.0	 —	 9.25	 —	 10.00	 —	 —
Broadway	shopping	centre,	
Broadway	nsw	(50%	interest)	 January	2007	 225.0	 221.5	 6.25	 6.25	 9.00	 9.00	 June	2010	 221.5
cherrybrook	village	shopping	
centre,	cherrybrook	nsw	2	 december	2009	 75.8	 73.8	 7.50	 7.50	 9.50	 9.50	 —	 —
city	centre	plaza,	rockhampton	qld	2	 december	2009	 44.0	 44.0	 8.25	 8.25	 9.75	 9.75	 —	 —
como	centre,	cnr	toorak	&	chapel	
streets,	south	yarra	vic	5	 August	1998	 123.5	 117.5	 8.25-8.75	 8.25-9.00	 9.25-11.00	 9.25-11.25	 June	2009	 136.8
cooleman	court,	weston	Act	2	 december	2009	 44.0	 44.0	 7.75	 7.75	 9.50	 9.50	 June	2010	 44.0
gippsland	centre,	sale	vic	 January	1994	 50.3	 49.8	 8.25	 8.25	 9.50	 9.50	 June	2010	 49.8
hinkler	central,	Bundaberg	qld	 August	2003	 88.0	 88.0	 7.75	 7.75	 9.50	 9.50	 march	2009	 84.0
John	oxley	centre,	
339	coronation	drive,	milton	qld	 may	2002	 52.3	 59.0	 9.00	 9.00	 9.50	 9.25	 march	2009	 54.0
	 december	1993	
	 (50%)	June	
kawana	shoppingworld,	Buddina	qld	 1998	(50%)	 202.6	 200.6	 6.75	 6.75	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 200.6
lake	haven	megacentre,	lake	haven	nsw	6	 January	2007	 —	 26.5	 —	 9.75	 —	 10.25	 —	 —
logan	megacentre,	logan,	qld	 october	2005	 61.5	 63.0	 9.25	 9.25	 10.25	 10.25	 december	2010	 61.5
moonee	ponds	central	(stage	ii),	
moonee	ponds	vic	 february	2008	 39.0	 39.0	 8.50	 8.50	 9.75	 9.75	 June	2010	 39.0
moonee	ponds	central,	moonee	ponds	vic	 may	2003	 23.2	 22.8	 7.75	 7.75	 9.50	 9.50	 June	2010	 22.8
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8	 investment	properties	(continueD)
	 Book	value	 capitalisation	rate	 discount	rate	 last
	 	 31	Dec	 30	Jun	 31	Dec	 30	Jun	 31	Dec	 30	Jun	 date	of	 external	
	 date	of	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	 last	external	 valuation	
	 acquisition	 $m	 $m	 %	 %	 %	 %	 valuation	 $m

morayfield	supacentre,	morayfield	qld	2,4	 december	2009	 —	 37.5	 —	 9.75	 —	 10.50	 —	 —
nexus	industry	park	(Atlas),	
lyn	parade,	prestons	nsw	 August	2004	 17.9	 17.1	 8.25	 8.25	 9.75	 9.75	 september	2009	 17.1
nexus	industry	park	(delonghi),	
lyn	parade,	prestons	nsw	 August	2004	 21.8	 21.5	 8.50	 8.75	 9.50	 9.50	 september	2009	 21.5
nexus	industry	park	(hpm	legrand),	
lyn	parade,	prestons	nsw	 August	2004	 14.8	 14.8	 8.50	 8.75	 9.75	 9.50	 december	2010	 14.8
nexus	industry	park	(natsteel),	
lyn	parade,	prestons	nsw	 August	2004	 12.3	 12.0	 8.50	 8.75	 9.25	 9.50	 march	2009	 12.5
orange	city	centre,	orange	nsw	 April	1993	 49.0	 49.0	 8.25	 8.25	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 49.0
orion	springfield	town	centre,	
springfield,	qld	 August	2002	 136.0	 143.0	 6.75	 6.75	 9.25	 9.00	 december	2010	 136.0
peninsula	lifestyle,	mornington	vic	 december	2003	 45.0	 46.0	 9.75	 9.25	 10.25	 10.00	 december	2010	 45.0
quay	west	car	park,	109-111	
harrington	street,	sydney	nsw	 november	1989	 29.0	 28.5	 8.50	 8.50	 10.25	 10.25	 June	2009	 37.0
rhodes	shopping	centre,	
rhodes	nsw	(50%	interest)	 January	2007	 102.0	 99.0	 7.00	 7.00	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 99.0
riverside	quay,	southbank	vic	 April	2002	&	
	 July	2003	 163.2	 151.2	 7.75-8.25	 8.00-8.25	 9.50-10.25	 9.50-10.25	 June	2010	 151.2
royal	domain	centre,	 october	1995	(50%)	
380	st	kilda	road,	melbourne	vic	 April	2001	(50%)	 106.6	 104.0	 8.00	 8.25	 9.00	 9.25	 June	2009	 101.5
st	george	centre,	60	marcus	
clarke	street,	canberra	Act	 september	1989	 51.5	 51.5	 8.75	 8.50	 9.00	 9.00	 June	2009	 52.0
sirius	Building,	23	furzer	street,	phillip	Act	 february	2010	 233.0	 225.0	 7.25	 7.25	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 225.0
st	marys	village	centre,	st	marys	nsw	 January	2003	 43.0	 42.3	 7.75	 7.75	 9.50	 9.25	 december	2010	 43.0
stanhope	village,	stanhope	gardens	nsw	 november	2003	 62.0	 59.0	 7.75	 7.75	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 59.0
taree	city	centre,	taree	nsw	2	 december	2009	 55.0	 55.5	 8.00	 8.00	 9.50	 9.50	 —	 —
waverley	gardens	shopping	centre,	
mulgrave	vic	 november	2002	 127.0	 127.0	 7.75	 7.75	 9.25	 9.25	 June	2010	 127.0

mirvac	limited	and	its	controlled	entities
forestry	land	7	 march	2004	 59.5	 59.5	 —	 —	 —	 —	 June	2010	 59.5
5	rider	Boulevard,	rhodes	nsw	 January	2007	 112.0	 108.0	 7.75	 8.00	 9.75	 9.75	 february	2009	 107.0
manning	mall,	taree,	nsw	 december	2006	 34.7	 34.7	 8.50	 8.50	 9.50	 9.50	 december	2009	 32.8

total	investment	properties	 	 5,281.0	 4,137.0	

ipuc
4	dalley	street	&	laneway,	sydney	nsw	 march	2004	 —	 —	 6.75	 6.75	 9.25	 9.25	 december	2009	 —
8	chifley	square,	sydney	nsw	3	 october	2009	 36.5	 —	 6.50	 —	 9.25	 —	 december	2010	 36.5
network,	old	wallgrove	road,	
eastern	creek	nsw	2,	4	 december	2002	 —	 6.0	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —	 —
nexus	industry	park	(Building	5),	
lyn	parade,	prestons	nsw	 August	2004	 9.0	 8.5	 7.88	 8.25	 9.50	 9.75	 december	2010	 9.0
orion	springfield	land,	springfield	qld	 August	2002	 33.0	 75.0	 6.50-9.25	 6.25-9.00	 9.25-10.75	 9.00	 december	2010	 33.0

total	ipuc	 	 78.5	 89.5	

total	investment	properties	and	ipuc	 	 5,359.5	 4,226.5

1)	 investment	properties	acquired	through	business	combination	during	this	period.
2)	date	of	acquisition	represents	business	combination	acquisition	date.
3)	the	property	was	reclassified	from	investment	properties	to	ipuc	at	december	2010.
4)	investment	properties	disposed	of	during	the	period.
5)	external	valuation	is	based	on	the	como	centre	including	the	hotel.	the	group	book	value	of	the	como	centre	excludes	the	hotel,	as	the	hotel	is	classified	

as	property,	plant	and	equipment.
6)	investment	properties	reclassified	as	assets	held	for	sale	during	the	period.
7)	forestry	land	represents	multiple	land	holdings	which	are	valued	by	using	a	combination	of	comparable	sales	and	dcf	projections.
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8	 investment	properties	(continueD)

a)	 reconciliation	of	carrying	amounts	of	investment	properties	1

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
at	fair	value	 	 $m	 $m

Balance	1	July	 	 4,226.5	 3,210.1
Additions	 	 65.4	 309.3
Additions	resulting	from	business	combination	 	 1,152.7	 822.2
disposals	 	 (69.9)	 (146.9)
net	gain/(loss)	on	fair	value	 	 28.0	 (98.6)
net	loss	from	foreign	currency	translation	 	 (5.0)	 (2.1)
transfers	to	assets	classified	as	held	for	sale	 	 (27.8)	 (53.7)
transfers	from	inventories	and	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 —	 205.4
Amortisation	of	fit	out	costs,	leasing	costs	and	lease	incentives	 	 (10.4)	 (19.2)

balance	31	December/30	june	 	 5,359.5	 4,226.5

1)	 comparatives	are	for	the	year	ended	30	June	2010.

b)	 amounts	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	for	investment	properties
	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 $m	 $m

investment	properties	rental	revenue	 	 267.1	 181.0
investment	properties	expenses	 	 (58.1)	 (45.9)

	 	 209.0	 135.1

c)	 valuation	basis

i) Investment properties
investment	properties	are	carried	at	fair	value.	valuation	methods	used	to	determine	the	fair	value	include	market	
sales	comparison,	dcf	and	capitalisation	rate	(“cap	rate”).	the	fair	value	for	a	property	may	be	determined	by	using	a	
combination	of	these	and	other	valuation	methods.

market	sales	comparison:	the	sales	comparison	approach	utilises	recent	sales	of	comparable	properties,	adjusted	for	
any	differences	including	the	nature,	location	and	lease	profile,	to	indicate	the	fair	value	of	a	property.	where	there	is	
a	lack	of	recent	sales,	activity	adjustments	are	made	from	previous	comparable	sales	to	reflect	changes	in	economic	
conditions.

dcf:	dcf	projections	derived	from	contracted	rents,	market	rents,	operating	costs,	lease	incentives,	lease	fees,	capital	
expenditure	and	future	income	on	vacant	space	are	discounted	at	a	rate	to	arrive	at	a	value.	the	discount	rate	is	a	
market	assessment	of	the	risk	associated	with	the	cash	flows,	and	the	nature,	location	and	tenancy	profile	of	the	
property	relative	to	returns	from	alternative	investments,	cpi	rates	and	liquidity	risk.	it	is	assumed	that	the	property	is	
sold	at	the	end	of	the	investment	period	at	a	terminal	value.	the	terminal	value	is	determined	by	using	an	appropriate	
terminal	cap	rate.	mirvac’s	terminal	cap	rates	are	in	the	range	of	an	additional	nil	to	75	basis	points	above	the	
respective	property’s	cap	rate.

cap	rate:	An	assessment	is	made	of	fully	leased	net	income	based	on	contracted	rents,	market	rents,	operating	costs	
and	future	income	on	vacant	space.	the	adopted	fully	leased	net	income	is	capitalised	in	perpetuity	from	the	valuation	
date	at	an	appropriate	cap	rate.	the	cap	rate	reflects	the	nature,	location	and	tenancy	profile	of	the	property	together	
with	current	market	investment	criteria,	as	evidenced	by	current	sales	evidence.	various	adjustments,	including	
incentives,	capital	expenditure,	and	reversions	to	market	rent,	are	made	to	arrive	at	the	property	value.

ii) IPUC
there	are	generally	no	active	markets	for	ipuc;	therefore,	a	lack	of	comparable	transactions	of	ipuc	usually	requires	
the	use	of	estimation	models.	the	two	main	estimation	models	used	to	value	ipuc	are	residual	and	dcf	valuations.	
the	residual	method	of	determining	the	value	of	a	property	uses	the	estimated	total	cost	of	the	development,	including	
construction	and	associated	expenditures,	finance	costs,	and	an	allowance	for	developer’s	risk	and	profit,	which	
is	deducted	from	the	end	value	of	the	completed	project.	the	resultant	figure	is	then	adjusted	back	to	the	date	of	
valuation	to	give	the	residual	value.
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8	 investment	properties	(continueD)

d)	 property	portfolio
mirvac’s	property	portfolio	is	made	up	as	follows:

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 	 $m	 $m

investment	properties	per	statement	of	financial	position	 	 5,359.5	 4,226.5
properties	classified	as	assets	held	for	sale	 	 31.2	 53.7
owner-occupied	hotel	management	lots	classified	as	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 58.2	 59.3
owner-occupied	freehold	hotels	classified	as	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 69.4	 61.5
owner-occupied	administration	properties	classified	as	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 217.8	 211.2

	 	 5,736.1	 4,612.2

9	 intangible	assets

	 management	rights	 goodwill	 total	
	 $m	 $m	 $m

Balance	1	July	2010	 10.5	 44.4	 54.9
Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	1	 —	 26.7	 26.7
disposal	of	subsidiaries	 (7.3)	 (1.7)	 (9.0)

balance	31	December	2010	 3.2	 69.4	 72.6

Balance	1	July	2009	 13.1	 45.5	 58.6
disposal	of	subsidiaries	 (1.5)	 (1.1)	 (2.6)
extinguished	as	part	of	business	combination	 (1.1)	 —	 (1.1)

Balance	30	June	2010	 10.5	 44.4	 54.9

1)	 Acquisition	of	wop	$25.5m	(refer	to	note	17)	and	acquisition	of	remaining	interest	in	north	ryde	office	trust	(“nrot”)	$1.2m	(refer	to	note	17).

a)	 allocation	of	intangible	assets	by	business	segment
A	segment	level	summary	of	the	intangible	asset	allocations	is	presented	below:

	 	 hotel	 investment	
	 investment	 management	 management	 total	
	 $m	 $m	 $m	 $m

management	rights	—	indefinite	life	1	 —	 —	 3.2	 3.2
goodwill	 63.1	 6.3	 —	 69.4

balance	31	December	2010	 63.1	 6.3	 3.2	 72.6

management	rights	—	indefinite	life	1	 —	 —	 10.5	 10.5
goodwill	 38.1	 6.3	 —	 44.4

Balance	30	June	2010	 38.1	 6.3	 10.5	 54.9

1)	 management	rights	are	primarily	held	in	relation	to	funds	established	or	rights	established	by	entities	acquired	by	mirvac.	these	funds	are	considered	
to	be	open-ended	and	therefore	have	no	expiry.	the	group	also	holds	strategic	stakes	in	these	funds	in	order	to	protect	its	interests.
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9	 intangible	assets	(continueD)

b)	 Key	assumptions	used	for	value	in	use	calculations	for	goodwill	and	other	intangible	assets
the	recoverable	amount	of	cgus	is	determined	using	the	higher	of	fair	value	less	cost	to	sell,	and	value	in	use.	
the	value	in	use	calculation	is	based	on	financial	budgets	and	forecasts	approved	by	management	covering	a	five	
year	period.	for	the	hotel	management	and	investment	management	cgus,	cash	flows	beyond	the	five	year	period	
are	extrapolated	using	the	estimated	growth	rates	stated	below.	for	the	investment	cgu,	no	forecast	growth	rate	
is	assumed	as	the	value	in	use	calculations	are	based	on	forecast	cash	flows	from	existing	projects	and	investment	
properties.	the	growth	rate	has	been	adjusted	to	reflect	current	market	conditions	and	does	not	exceed	the	long	term	
average	growth	rate	for	the	business	in	which	the	cgu	operates.	the	discount	rates	used	are	post-tax	and	reflect	
specific	risks	relating	to	the	relevant	segments	and	the	countries	in	which	they	operate.	A	terminal	growth	rate	of	
three	per	cent	has	also	been	applied.

	 growth	rate	1	 Discount	rate	 growth	rate	1	 discount	rate
	 31	December	 31	December	 30	June	 30	June	
	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	
cgu	 %	 %	 %	 %	

investment	 —	2	 10	 —	2	 10
hotel	management	 3	 13	 3	 13
investment	management	 1	 13	 1	 13

1)	 weighted	average	growth	rate	used	to	extrapolate	cash	flows	beyond	the	budget	period.
2)	the	value	in	use	calculation	is	based	on	financial	budgets	and	forecasts	approved	by	management	covering	a	five	year	period.	no	forecast	growth	

rate	is	assumed	as	the	value	in	use	calculations	are	based	on	forecast	cash	flows	from	investment	properties.

the	recoverable	amount	of	intangible	assets	exceeds	the	carrying	value	at	31	december	2010.	management	considers	
that	for	the	carrying	value	to	exceed	the	recoverable	amount,	there	would	have	to	be	unreasonable	changes	to	key	
assumptions.	management	considers	the	chances	of	these	changes	occurring	as	unlikely.

c)	 impairment	of	goodwill
there	was	no	impairment	of	goodwill	(June	2010:	$nil).

d)	 impairment	of	management	rights
during	the	half	year,	the	carrying	value	of	management	rights	attributable	to	the	investment	management	cgu	was	
not	impaired	(June	2010:	$nil).	management	rights	are	primarily	held	in	relation	to	funds	established	or	rights	
established	by	entities	acquired	by	mirvac.	these	funds	are	considered	to	be	open-ended	and	therefore	have	no	expiry.

10	 borrowings

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 note	 $m	 $m

current
Unsecured
Bank	loans	 10a)	i)	 453.6	 92.9
domestic	mtn	 10a)	ii)	 —	 200.0

secured
Bank	loans	 10a)	iii)	 32.5	 32.5
commercial	mortgage-Backed	securities	(“cmBs”)	 10a)	iv)	 505.0	 —
lease	liabilities	 10a)	v)	 2.6	 2.3

	 	 993.7	 327.7

non-current
Unsecured
Bank	loans	 10a)	i)	 955.0	 905.0
domestic	mtn	 10a)	ii)	 350.0	 150.0
foreign	mtn	 10a)	vi)	 379.0	 450.0

secured
lease	liabilities	 10a)	v)	 10.2	 11.6

	 	 1,694.2	 1,516.6

nOtes tO the FInAnCIAl stAteMents 



25mirvac	group	interim	report	for	the	hAlf	yeAr	ended	31	decemBer	2010

10	 borrowings	(continueD)

a)	 borrowings

i) Unsecured bank loans
mirvac	has	an	unsecured	syndicated	loan	facility	of	$1,917.5m	(June	2010:	$1,917.5m)	comprising	a	$1,112.5m	(June	
2010:	$1,112.5m)	revolving	tranche	maturing	in	June	2011	and	$805.0m	(June	2010:	$805.0m)	term	tranche	maturing	
in	January	2012.	mirvac	has	$200.0m	(June	2010:	$200.0m)	of	unsecured	bilateral	facilities,	of	which	$50.0m	expires	
in	June	2011	and	$150.0m	in	April	2013.	subject	to	compliance	with	the	terms,	each	of	these	bank	loan	facilities	may	be	
drawn	at	any	time.	refer	to	note	18	for	details	of	refinancing	since	the	reporting	date.

ii) domestic Mtn
mirvac	has	a	domestic	bond	issue	of	$150.0m	maturing	in	march	2015.	in	addition,	a	new	domestic	bond	issue	was	
completed	in	september	2010	for	$200.0m	maturing	in	september	2016.	interest	is	payable	either	quarterly	or	semi-
annually	in	arrears	in	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	notes.

iii) secured bank loans
A	subsidiary	has	secured	bank	facilities	totalling	$32.5m	(June	2010:	$32.5m)	which	mature	in	february	2011.

iv) CMbs
commercial	notes	of	$505.0m	(June	2010:	$nil)	which	have	a	scheduled	maturity	date	of	16	november	2011.	At	expiry,	
the	cmBs	will	be	repaid	from	cash.	these	were	recognised	as	a	result	of	the	wop	acquisition	(refer	to	note	17).	
the	debt	is	cash	collateralised	(refer	to	note	16	for	more	details).

v) lease liabilities
lease	liabilities	are	effectively	secured	as	the	rights	to	the	leased	asset	revert	to	the	lessor	in	the	event	of	default.

vi) Foreign Mtn
mirvac	has	a	us	private	placement	issue	made	up	of	us	dollar	275.0m	maturing	in	november	2016	and	us	dollar	
100.0m	maturing	in	november	2018.	An	additional	Australian	dollar	10.0m	maturing	in	november	2016	was	also	issued	
in	conjunction	with	this	placement.	interest	is	payable	semi-annually	in	arrears	for	all	notes.	the	notes	were	issued	
with	fixed	and	floating	rate	coupons	payable	in	us	dollars	and	swapped	back	to	Australian	dollars	floating	rate	coupons	
through	cross	currency	principal	and	interest	rate	swaps.

b)	 Financing	arrangements
	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 	 $m	 $m

total	facilities
unsecured	bank	loans	 	 2,117.5	 2,117.5
domestic	mtn	 	 350.0	 350.0
secured	bank	loans	 	 32.5	 32.5
cmBs	 	 505.0	 —
foreign	mtn	 	 379.0	 450.0

	 	 3,384.0	 2,950.0

used	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period
unsecured	bank	loans	 	 1,408.6	 997.9
domestic	mtn	 	 350.0	 350.0
secured	bank	loans	 	 32.5	 32.5
cmBs	 	 505.0	 —
foreign	mtn	 	 379.0	 450.0

	 	 2,675.1	 1,830.4

unused	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period
unsecured	bank	loans	 	 708.9	 1,119.6
domestic	mtn	 	 —	 —
secured	bank	loans	 	 —	 —
cmBs	 	 —	 —
foreign	mtn	 	 —	 —

	 	 708.9	 1,119.6
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11	 contributeD	equitY

a)	 paid	up	equity
	 	 	 	 consolidated
	 31	December	 30	June	
	 2010	 2010	 31	December	 30	June	
	 securities	 securities	 2010	 2010	
consolidated	 m	 m	 $m	 $m

mirvac	limited	—	ordinary	shares	issued	 3,404.3	 3,254.8	 1,242.3	 1,223.7
mpt	—	ordinary	units	issued	 3,404.3	 3,254.8	 5,064.7	 4,875.1

total	contributed	equity	 	 	 6,307.0	 6,098.8

b)	 movements	in	paid	up	equity
movements	in	paid	up	equity	of	mirvac	for	the	half	year	ended	31	december	2010	were	as	follows:
	 	 	 	 consolidated	
	 	 issue	price	 securities	 securities	
consolidated	 issue	date	 $	 m	 $m

Balance	1	July	2010	 	 	 3,254.8	 6,098.8
Acquisition	of	wop	 4	August	2010	 1.37	 149.0	 204.1
eep	issues	vested	 —	 —	 —	 2.0
ltip/lti	plan	and	eis	securities	
converted,	sold	or	forfeited	 26	August	2010	 4.19	 0.5	 2.1

balance	31	December	2010	 	 	 3,404.3	 6,307.0

c)	 reconciliation	of	securities	issued	on	the	asX
under	AAs,	securities	issued	under	the	mirvac	employee	lti	plans	are	required	to	be	accounted	for	as	an	option	
and	are	excluded	from	total	issued	equity,	until	such	time	as	the	relevant	employee	loans	are	fully	repaid	or	the	
employee	leaves	the	group.	total	ordinary	securities	issued	as	detailed	above	are	reconciled	to	securities	issued	
on	the	AsX	as	follows:
	 31	December	2010	 30	June	2010	
	 securities	 securities	
	 m	 m

total	ordinary	securities	disclosed	 3,404.3	 3,254.8
securities	issued	under	lti	plan	and	eis	 11.5	 11.5

total	securities	issued	on	the	asX	 3,415.8	 3,266.3

12	 DiviDenDs/Distributions

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
ordinary	stapled	securities	 	 $m	 $m

quarterly	ordinary	distributions	paid	as	follows:
2	cents	per	stapled	security	paid	on	29	october	2010	 	 68.3
2	cents	per	stapled	security	paid	on	30	october	2009	 	 	 56.1
2	cents	per	stapled	security	paid	on	28	January	2011	 	 68.3
2	cents	per	stapled	security	paid	on	29	January	2010	 	 	 59.9

total	dividend/distribution	4	cents	per	stapled	security	
(December	2009:	4	cents	per	stapled	security)	 	 136.6	 116.0

there	was	no	dividend/distribution	reinvestment	plan	in	place	for	either	period;	all	dividends/distributions	were	
satisfied	in	cash.
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13	 investments	in	associates

investments	in	associates	are	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	information	relating	to	
associates	is	set	out	below:
	 interest	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	
name	of	entity	 principal	activities	 %	 %	 $m	 $m

Archbold	road	trust	 non-residential	development	 20	 20	 —	 —
BAc	devco	pty	limited	1	 non-residential	development	 33	 33	 —	 —
mirvac	city	regeneration	partnership	 non-residential	development	 25	 25	 —	 —
mindarie	keys	Joint	venture	2	 residential	development	 15	 15	 0.5	 0.7
mirvac	industrial	trust	3	 listed	property	investment	trust	 14	 14	 —	 —
mirvac	wholesale	hotel	fund	 hotel	investment	 49	 49	 109.1	 109.6
new	forests	pty	limited	4	 forestry	and	environmental	asset	 13	 13	 —	 —

	 	 	 	 109.6	 110.3

1)	 this	entity	entered	into	voluntary	administration	on	14	may	2010.

2)	mirvac	equity	accounts	for	this	investment	as	an	associate	even	though	it	owns	less	than	20	per	cent	of	the	voting	or	potential	voting	power	
due	to	the	fact	that	it	has	significant	influence	over	this	entity,	as	a	subsidiary	of	the	group	is	the	project	manager	of	this	investment.

3)	mirvac	equity	accounts	for	this	investment	as	an	associate	even	though	it	owns	less	than	20	per	cent	of	the	voting	or	potential	voting	power	
due	to	the	fact	that	it	has	significant	influence	over	this	entity,	as	a	subsidiary	of	the	group	is	the	responsible	entity	for	the	fund.

4)	mirvac	equity	accounts	for	this	investment	as	an	associate	even	though	it	owns	less	than	20	per	cent	of	the	voting	or	potential	voting	power	
due	to	the	fact	that	it	has	significant	influence	over	this	entity,	as	the	company	is	manager	of	the	fund.	A	subsidiary	of	the	group	is	the	trustee	
for	the	fund	and	the	group	also	has	a	seat	on	the	Board.

All	associates	were	established	or	incorporated	in	Australia	with	the	exception	of	mirvac	city	regeneration	
partnership	which	was	established	in	the	united	kingdom.

14	 investments	in	joint	ventures

investments	in	joint	ventures	include	those	in	corporations,	partnerships	and	other	entities	and	accounted	for	in	the	
consolidated	financial	statements	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	All	joint	ventures	were	established	in	Australia	
with	the	exception	of	quadrant	real	estate	Advisors	llc	which	was	incorporated	in	the	united	states.	information	
relating	to	joint	ventures	is	set	out	below:
	 interest	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	 2010	 2010	
name	of	entity	 principal	activities	 %	 %	 $m	 $m

Australian	centre	for	life	long	learning	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 —	 —
Bankstown	Airport	development	pty	ltd	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 —	 —
Bl	developments	pty	ltd	 residential	development	 50	 50	 48.9	 47.1
city	west	property	investments	(no.1)	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 9.3	 9.2
city	west	property	investments	(no.2)	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 9.3	 9.2
city	west	property	investments	(no.3)	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 9.3	 9.2
city	west	property	investments	(no.4)	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 9.3	 9.2
city	west	property	investments	(no.5)	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 9.3	 9.2
city	west	property	investments	(no.6)	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 9.3	 9.2
cn	collins	pty	limited	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 0.2	 0.2
domaine	investment	trust	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 —	 —
ephraim	island	Joint	venture	 residential	development	 50	 50	 14.1	 14.3
fast	track	Bromelton	pty	ltd	and	nakheel	spv	pty	ltd	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 27.1	 27.1
hpAl	freehold	pty	ltd	 non-residential	development	 50	 50	 —	 7.4
infocus	infrastructure	management	pty	ltd	 investment	property	 50	 50	 1.4	 1.2
J	f	infrastructure	pty	ltd	 infrastructure	 50	 50	 —	 —
leakes	rd	rockbank	unit	trust	 residential	development	 50	 50	 13.7	 13.8
mirvac	lend	lease	village	consortium/	
newington	olympic	village	 residential	development	 50	 50	 1.0	 1.0
mirvac	wholesale	residential	
development	partnership	trust	 residential	development	 20	 20	 18.0	 16.3
mvic	finance	2	pty	limited	 residential	development	 50	 50	 —	 —
new	Zealand	sustainable	forestry	investors	1	&	2	 forestry	and	environmental	asset	 33	 33	 7.0	 8.4
quadrant	real	estate	Advisors	llc	1	 investment	property	 50	 50	 2.4	 2.7
swanbourne	Joint	venture	 residential	development	 50	 50	 7.3	 7.0
tucker	Box	holdings	pty	limited	 hotel	investment	 50	 50	 105.5	 98.6
walsh	Bay	partnership	 residential	development	 50	 50	 —	 —

	 	 	 	 302.4	 300.3

1)	 the	carrying	amount	reflects	the	group’s	entitlement	to	the	net	assets	independent	of	its	financial	position.
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15	 contingent	liabilities

the	group	had	contingent	liabilities	at	31	december	2010	in	respect	of	the	following:

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 	 $m	 $m

Bank	guarantees	and	performance	bonds	issued	by	external	parties	in	respect	
of	certain	performance	obligations	granted	in	the	normal	course	of	business	 	 76.9	 60.3
Asset	performance	guarantees.	the	group	has	provided	guarantees	to	owners	
of	some	managed	assets	as	to	the	future	performance	of	these	assets	 	 3.1	 1.5
claims	for	damages	in	respect	of	injury	sustained	due	to	health	and	safety	
issues	have	been	made	during	the	half	year.	the	potential	effect	of	these	claims	
indicated	by	legal	advice	is	that	if	the	claims	were	to	be	successful	against	the	group,	
they	would	result	in	a	liability	 	 1.6	 0.3

16	 notes	to	the	statement	oF	cash	Flows

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 $m	 $m

a)	 reconciliation	of	cash
cash	at	the	end	of	the	half	year	as	shown	in	the	statement	of	cash	flows	is	the	same	
as	the	statement	of	financial	position,	the	detail	of	which	follows:

cash	on	hand	 	 —	 0.2
cash	at	bank	 	 77.7	 151.2
deposits	at	call	 	 0.4	 260.5

unrestricted	cash	 	 78.1	 411.9
cash	collateralisation	1	 	 505.1	 —

cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 583.2	 411.9

1)	 cash	collateralisation	amount	represents	cash	held	on	term	deposit	for	the	purposes	of	meeting	obligations	in	relation	to	cmBs	which	have	a	scheduled	
maturity	date	of	16	november	2011;	these	arose	as	a	result	of	the	acquisition	of	wop	(refer	to	note	17).
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16	 notes	to	the	statement	oF	cash	Flows	(continueD)

	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 31	december	
	 	 2010	 2009	
	 	 $m	 $m

b)	 reconciliation	of	(loss)/profit	attributable	to	stapled	securityholders	
of	mirvac	to	net	cash	inflows	from	operating	activities

(loss)/profit	attributable	to	stapled	securityholders	of	mirvac	 	 (12.7)	 47.2
share	of	net	gain	of	associates	and	joint	ventures	not	received	as	dividends/distributions	 (15.5)	 (7.2)
net	(gain)/loss	on	fair	value	adjustments	of	investment	properties	
and	owner-occupied	hotel	management	lots	and	freehold	hotels	 	 (76.1)	 116.0
unrealised	gain	on	foreign	exchange	 	 (73.6)	 (44.1)
net	gain	on	sale	of	investments	 	 (1.9)	 (1.8)
net	(gain)/loss	on	sale	of	investment	properties	 	 0.7	 (0.4)
discount	on	business	combination	and	net	gain	on	remeasurement	of	equity	interest	 	 —	 (150.7)
net	loss	on	fair	value	adjustments	of	ipuc	 	 48.1	 86.3
net	loss	on	sale	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 0.7	 0.6
security	based	payment	expense	 	 2.7	 2.5
depreciation	and	amortisation	expenses	 	 15.7	 14.9
impairment	of	loans	 	 0.6	 0.5
unrealised	loss	on	financial	instruments	 	 63.2	 28.4
provision	for	loss	on	inventories	 	 215.0	 —
Business	combination	transaction	costs	 	 31.8	 22.0
distributions	from	associates	and	joint	ventures	 	 7.7	 8.8
change	in	operating	assets	and	liabilities,	net	of	effects	from	purchase	of	subsidiaries:
—	increase/(decrease)	in	income	taxes	payable	 	 1.5	 (1.0)
—	decrease	in	tax	effected	balances	 	 (4.9)	 (0.2)
—	decrease	in	receivables	 	 0.8	 15.6
—	increase	in	inventories	 	 (48.5)	 (17.7)
—	(increase)/decrease	in	other	assets/liabilities	 	 (4.5)	 26.2
—	increase	in	financial	assets	 	 —	 (15.3)
—	decrease	in	payables	 	 (87.8)	 (42.0)
—	(decrease)/increase	in	provisions	for	employee	benefits	 	 (0.4)	 10.1

net	cash	inflows	from	operating	activities	 	 62.6	 98.7

17	 acquisition	oF	businesses

a)	 acquisition	of	wop

i) summary of acquisition
on	4	August	2010,	the	group	acquired	100	per	cent	of	the	issued	securities	in	westpac	office	trust,	an	AsX	listed	real	
estate	investment	trust,	for	consideration	of	$404.1m.	the	acquisition	has	enhanced	the	quality	of	the	investment	
properties	portfolio.

details	of	the	purchase	consideration	to	acquire	wop	are	as	follows:

purchase	consideration	 note	 $m

cash	paid	 17a)	iv)	 200.0
securities	issued	 17a)	vi)	 204.1

total	purchase	consideration	 	 404.1

nOtes tO the FInAnCIAl stAteMents 
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17	 acquisition	oF	businesses	(continueD)

the	preliminary	fair	value	of	assets	and	liabilities	recognised	as	a	result	of	the	acquisition	are	as	follows:

	 $m

cash	and	cash	equivalents	 25.1
receivables	 2.8
other	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	 21.2
investment	properties	 1,108.2
payables	 (11.1)
Borrowings	 (739.0)
derivative	financial	liabilities	 (20.6)
provisions	 (8.0)

net	identifiable	assets	acquired	 378.6
goodwill	on	acquisition	 25.5

net	assets	acquired	 404.1

the	goodwill	is	attributable	to	wop’s	quality	investment	portfolio	which	comprises	properties	that	are	predominately	
leased	to	high	quality	tenants	on	long	term	leases	with	structured	rental	increases.	none	of	the	goodwill	is	expected	
to	be	deductible	for	tax	purposes.

ii) Revenue and profit contribution
the	acquired	business	contributed	revenues	of	$86.3m	and	net	profit	of	$67.5m	1	to	the	group	for	the	period	from	
4	August	2010	to	31	december	2010.

if	the	acquisition	had	occurred	on	1	July	2010,	consolidated	total	revenue	from	continuing	operations	and	other	income	
and	consolidated	loss	for	the	group	for	the	half	year	ended	31	december	2010	would	have	been	$1,067.2m	and	$19.5m	
respectively.	these	amounts	have	been	calculated	using	the	group’s	accounting	policies	and	by	adjusting	the	results	
of	the	group	to	reflect	the	additional	amortisation	of	lease	incentives	in	respect	of	investment	properties	that	would	
have	been	charged	assuming	the	fair	value	adjustments	to	investment	properties.

iii) Contingent consideration
there	is	no	contingent	consideration	as	part	of	this	transaction.

iv) Purchase consideration — cash outflow on acquisition
	 	 	 consolidated
	 	 31	December	 30	June	
	 	 2010	 2010	
	 	 $m	 $m

outflow	of	cash	to	acquire	subsidiary,	net	of	cash	acquired
cash	consideration	 	 (200.0)	 —
less:	Balance	acquired	 	 25.1	 —

	 	 (174.9)	 —

direct	costs	relating	to	acquisition	 	 (30.8)	 —

outflow	of	cash	—	investing	activities	 	 (205.7)	 —

total	outflow	of	cash	to	acquire	subsidiary	 	 (205.7)	 —

v) Acquisition related costs
Acquisition	related	costs	of	$31.8m	were	incurred	(comprising	$16.8m	of	transaction	costs	relating	directly	to	the	
acquisition,	including	post	acquisition	write	off	of	$1.0m	for	prepaid	borrowing	costs	on	extinguishing	wop’s	borrowing	
facilities	and	$15.0m	for	westpac	Banking	corporation	giving	up	its	opportunity	to	earn	future	management	fees).

vi) securities issued
As	part	of	the	acquisition,	the	group	issued	149.0m	securities,	the	fair	value	of	which	was	determined	to	be	the	market	
value	of	$1.37	per	security,	being	the	market	value	of	mirvac	securities	at	the	acquisition	date.	the	total	fair	value	of	
securities	issued	as	part	of	the	acquisition	was	$204.1m.

vii) Acquisition of remaining interest in north Ryde Office trust (“nROt”)
on	6	August	2010,	the	group	acquired	the	remaining	50	per	cent	interest	in	nrot,	for	a	purchase	consideration	of	
$22.5m,	which	resulted	in	goodwill	on	acquisition	of	$1.2m.	nrot	owns	the	westpac	data	centre	at	54-60	talavera	
road,	north	ryde,	nsw.	the	group	had	acquired	the	other	50	per	cent	interest	in	nrot	through	its	acquisition	of	wop.	
As	a	result,	the	group	now	holds	all	of	the	units	in	nrot.

nOtes tO the FInAnCIAl stAteMents 

1)	 the	profit	contributed	from	4	August	2010	includes	the	impact	from	the	repayment	of	wop’s	bank	debt	facilities	on	acquisition	and	includes	
gain	on	fair	value	of	investment	properties.
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18	 events	occurring	aFter	the	enD	oF	the	reporting	perioD

a)	 queensland	floods
mirvac	experienced	limited	impact	to	its	residential	projects	and	investment	assets	across	queensland	as	a	result	
of	the	recent	flood	crisis.

the	group	continues	to	monitor	the	actual	and	potential	impacts	of	the	floods	and	at	the	present	time	there	
is	no	evidence	they	will	have	a	material	impact.

b)	 queensland	cyclone	Yasi
the	group	has	five	hotels	and	resorts	in	cairns,	palm	cove	and	port	douglas,	some	of	which	were	closed	for	a	
short	period	of	time.	only	limited	damage	was	sustained.

the	cyclone	may	impact	future	trading	levels	at	the	hotels	in	the	region;	the	group	continues	to	monitor	the	
impact	and	at	the	present	time	there	is	no	evidence	it	will	have	a	material	impact.

c)	 Debt	refinancing
post	31	december	2010,	the	group	refinanced	its	syndicated	bank	facilities	in	line	with	its	debt	strategy.	the	
transaction	involved	refinancing	existing	tranches	maturing	in	June	2011	and	January	2012	to	a	new	$1,852.5m	facility.

the	one	and	two	year	term	facility	will	be	repaid	from	proceeds	raised	in	future	capital	markets	issues.	
details	are	as	follows:

—	one	year	facility	of	$122.5m;	and
—	two	year	facility	of	$140.0m.

the	multicurrency	revolving	facility	is	made	up	of	three	to	five	year	tranches.	details	as	follows:

—	three	year	facility	of	$530.0m;
—	four	year	facility	of	$530.0m;	and
—	five	year	facility	of	$530.0m.

d)	 other	circumstances
no	other	circumstances	have	arisen	since	the	end	of	the	half	year	which	have	significantly	affected	or	may	
significantly	affect	the	operations	of	mirvac,	the	results	of	those	operations,	or	the	state	of	affairs	of	mirvac	
in	future	years.

nOtes tO the FInAnCIAl stAteMents 
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in	the	directors’	opinion:

a)	 the	financial	statements	and	the	notes	set	out	on	pages	06	to	31	are	in	accordance	with	the	corporations	Act	
2001,	including:

i)	 complying	with	Accounting	standards,	the	corporations	regulations	2001	and	other	mandatory	professional	
reporting	requirements;	and

ii)	 giving	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	consolidated	entity’s	financial	position	at	31	december	2010	and	of	its	
performance	for	the	half	year	ended	on	that	date;	and

b)	 there	are	reasonable	grounds	to	believe	that	the	company	will	be	able	to	pay	its	debts	as	and	when	they	
become	due	and	payable.

this	declaration	is	made	in	accordance	with	a	resolution	of	the	directors.

nicholas	collishaw
director

sydney	
22	february	2011

dIReCtORs’ deClARAtIOn
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IndePendent AUdItOR’s ReVIew

liability	limited	by	a	scheme	approved	under	professional	standards	legislation

inDepenDent	auDitor’s	review	report	to	the	members	oF	mirvac	limiteD

report	on	the	half-year	financial	report
we	have	reviewed	the	accompanying	half-year	financial	report	of	mirvac	limited	(the	company),	which	comprises	
the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	december	2010,	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	
changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	half-year	ended	on	that	date,	other	selected	explanatory	notes	
and	the	directors’	declaration	for	the	mirvac	group	(the	consolidated	entity).	the	consolidated	entity	comprises	both	
the	company	and	the	entities	it	controlled	during	that	half-year,	including	mirvac	funds	limited	as	responsible	entity	
for	mirvac	property	trust	and	the	entities	it	controlled	during	that	half-year.

directors’ responsibility for the half-year financial report
the	directors	of	the	company	are	responsible	for	the	preparation	of	the	half-year	financial	report	that	gives	a	true	and	
fair	view	in	accordance	with	Australian	Accounting	standards	(including	the	Australian	Accounting	interpretations)	
and	the	corporations	Act	2001	and	for	such	control	as	the	directors	determine	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	
of	the	half-year	financial	report	that	is	free	from	material	misstatement	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.

Auditor’s responsibility
our	responsibility	is	to	express	a	conclusion	on	the	half-year	financial	report	based	on	our	review.	we	conducted	
our	review	in	accordance	with	Auditing	standard	on	review	engagements	Asre	2410	review	of	an	interim	financial	
report	performed	by	the	independent	Auditor	of	the	entity,	in	order	to	state	whether,	on	the	basis	of	the	procedures	
described,	we	have	become	aware	of	any	matter	that	makes	us	believe	that	the	financial	report	is	not	in	accordance	
with	the	corporations	Act	2001	including:	giving	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	consolidated	entity’s	financial	position	as	at	
31	december	2010	and	its	performance	for	the	half-year	ended	on	that	date;	and	complying	with	Accounting	standard	
AAsB	134	interim	financial	reporting	and	the	corporations	regulations	2001.	As	the	auditor	of	mirvac	limited,	Asre	
2410	requires	that	we	comply	with	the	ethical	requirements	relevant	to	the	audit	of	the	annual	financial	report.

A	review	of	a	half-year	financial	report	consists	of	making	enquiries,	primarily	of	persons	responsible	for	financial	
and	accounting	matters,	and	applying	analytical	and	other	review	procedures.	it	also	includes	reading	the	other	
information	included	with	the	financial	report	to	determine	whether	it	contains	any	material	inconsistencies	with	the	
financial	report.	A	review	is	substantially	less	in	scope	than	an	audit	conducted	in	accordance	with	Australian	Auditing	
standards	and	consequently	does	not	enable	us	to	obtain	assurance	that	we	would	become	aware	of	all	significant	
matters	that	might	be	identified	in	an	audit.	Accordingly,	we	do	not	express	an	audit	opinion.

while	we	considered	the	effectiveness	of	management’s	internal	controls	over	financial	reporting	when	determining	
the	nature	and	extent	of	our	procedures,	our	review	was	not	designed	to	provide	assurance	on	internal	controls.

our	review	did	not	involve	an	analysis	of	the	prudence	of	business	decisions	made	by	directors	or	management.

RePORt tO the MeMbeRs OF MIRVAC lIMIted

pricewaterhousecoopers	
abn	52	780	433	757

darling	park	tower	2	
201	sussex	street	
gpo	BoX	2650	
sydney	nsw	1171	
dX	77	sydney	
Australia

telephone	+61	2	8266	0000	
facsimile	+61	2	8266	9999
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IndePendent AUdItOR’s ReVIew

inDepenDent	auDitor’s	review	report	to	the	members	oF	mirvac	limiteD	(continueD)

Independence
in	conducting	our	review,	we	have	complied	with	the	independence	requirements	of	the	corporations	Act	2001.

Conclusion
Based	on	our	review,	which	is	not	an	audit,	we	have	not	become	aware	of	any	matter	that	makes	us	believe	that	the	
half-year	financial	report	of	mirvac	limited	is	not	in	accordance	with	the	corporations	Act	2001	including:

a)	 giving	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	consolidated	entity’s	financial	position	as	at	31	december	2010	and	of	its	
performance	for	the	half-year	ended	on	that	date;	and

b)	 complying	with	Accounting	standard	AAsB	134	interim	financial	reporting	and	corporations	regulations	2001.

pricewaterhousecoopers

matthew	lunn	 sydney
partner	 22	february	2011

RePORt tO the MeMbeRs OF MIRVAC lIMIted


